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LETTER FROM THE BOARD

BEEG N
Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”), | would like to present the
2022/283 annual report of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2023.

REVIEW

For the year ended 31 March 2023 (the “Year”), the Group’s revenue
was approximately HK$157.0 million (2022: approximately HK$141.7
million). Such increase was mainly attributable to the improvement in
business environment in Hong Kong, leading to a higher level of
construction works and projects available during the Year when
compared with the year ended 31 March 2022, resulting in a higher than
expected demand for our products.

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$3.6 million for the
Year as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$1.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022. This was mainly attributable to the increase
in fair value loss in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
impairment losses under expected credit loss model, freight,
transportation and storage costs, and staff costs, partially offset with the
increase in revenue, gross profit and taxation credit during the Year.

PROSPECTS

Looking ahead, the Group is cautiously positive about the prospects of
the market and will continue to focus on our core business of
manufacturing and trading of down-the-hole (“DTH”) rockdrilling tools in
Hong Kong and Macau, and our efforts to strengthen and extend our
presence in the overseas markets. In order to maximise the long term
returns to our Shareholders, the Group will devote more resources
towards the development of our manufacturing and trading of DTH
rockdrilling tools business.

APPRECIATION

Lastly, | would like to express our sincere gratitude to our shareholders,
customers and business partners for their continuous support, and to our
management and staff members for their diligence, dedication and
contribution to the growth of the Group.

By order of the Board

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
Chui Kwong Kau

Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools, trading of piling and drilling machineries and
rockdrilling equipment.

During the Year, the market environment in Hong Kong has improved
due to the continuous improvement in the timeliness of approval of public
works budgets by the Finance Committee (“Finance Committee”) of the
Legislative Council of Hong Kong (“LegCo”), leading to more construction
projects available in the Hong Kong market. At the international level, the
revenue generated from the Scandinavia market has slightly increased
during the Year as a result of the improvement of business conditions. As
a result, this had a favourable contribution to our Group’s revenue as our
local and international customers have increased their purchases of our
products. There have been increases in fair value loss in financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss of approximately HK$1.7 million (2022:
fair value gain of approximately HK$1.6 million), and impairment loss of
trade receivables of approximately HK$4.3 million (2022: approximately
HK$0.8 million) during the Year. The effects as mentioned above have
resulted in an increase in the loss position during the Year, where the loss
for the Year is approximately HK$3.6 million, as compared with the loss
of approximately HK$1.5 million for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Hong Kong remains to be the Group’s major market, where the revenue
generated from Hong Kong contributed to approximately HK$149.5
million for the Year (2022: approximately HK$128.9 million), or
approximately 95.2% of the total revenue during the Year (2022:
approximately 90.9%).

The business in the Scandinavian region has improved, where the
revenue generated from Scandinavia contributed to approximately
HK$5.2 million (2022: approximately HK$2.5 million), or approximately
3.3% of the total revenue during the Year (2022: approximately 1.7%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)
Manufacturing and Trading of DTH Rockdrilling Tools

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools. Our self-designed and manufactured DTH
rockdrilling tools can be categorised into the following main categories,
namely DTH hammers, casing systems (comprising driver bits and casing
bits), and other miscellaneous products including button bits and bit
openers, as well as our newly developed products, drill pipes, cluster
drills and casing tubes. Revenue from the manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools contributed to approximately 93.3% of the total
revenue during the Year (2022: approximately 82.1%).

Trading of Piling and Drilling Machineries and Rockdrilling Equipment

The Group is also engaged in the trading of piling and drilling machineries
and rockdrilling equipment to our customers as part of our technical
rockdrilling solutions. There are no revenue from the trading of piling and
drilling machineries during the Year (2022: approximately 7.1% of total
revenue), and revenue from trading of rockdrilling equipment contributed
to approximately 6.7% of the total revenue during the Year (2022:
approximately 10.8%).

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Consolidated Results of Operations

The Group’s revenue increased by approximately HK$15.3 million or
10.8%, to approximately HK$157.0 million for the Year, from
approximately HK$141.7 million for the year ended 31 March 2022. Our
gross profit for the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023 were
approximately HK$39.6 million and approximately HK$43.4 million
respectively. For the years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, the revenue
from the manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools accounted
for approximately 82.1% and approximately 93.3% of the total revenue,
respectively. The revenue from trading of piling and drilling machineries,
and trading of rockdrilling equipment accounted for the rest of our
revenue. We sell our products to customers in Hong Kong, Macau, and
through distributors in Finland and Japan to end users in Scandinavia
and Japan respectively. We generated most of our revenue from sales in
Hong Kong, which accounted for approximately 90.9% and
approximately 95.2% of our total revenue for the years ended 31 March
2022 and 2023 respectively.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B E R M

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)

Consolidated Results of Operations (Continued)

The following discussion addresses the principal trends that have
affected our results of operations during the Year. The following table
sets out our consolidated results of operations for the years indicated:

Bt FS BB )
AR (1)
TYHRRRAE Y ERPINCE L BN TS
B - TRBTIRPIRFREE MR QR

= .
i

For the year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=+—HLFE

2023 2022
—EC=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Revenue W25 157,048 141,748
Cost of sales FHEM A (113,630) (102,147)
Gross profit ESVY 43,418 39,601
Other income H A WA 4,253 1,724
Impairment losses under expected FEHEEEEEAETH
credit loss model, net BEEEFRE (4,307) (762)
Other gains and losses E ek M BB 450 2,439
Selling and distribution expenses $HE My EFA T (9,523) (7,447)
Administrative expenses THAX (39,772) (35,797)
Finance costs BB AR (1,035) (873)
Loss before tax BrEATE 1B (6,516) (1,115)
Taxation credit (charge) R % (1) 2,940 (360)
Loss for the year FREIE (3,576) (1,475)
Total comprehensive (expense) FRAZEA (X)) WE
income for the year (8,436) 319
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Revenue

Revenue for the Group has increased from approximately HK$141.7
million for the year ended 31 March 2022 to approximately HK$157.0
million for the year ended 31 March 2023, an increase of approximately
HK$15.3 million or 10.8%. The increase in revenue is primarily caused by
the improvement in business environment in Hong Kong, leading to a
higher level of construction works and projects available during the Year
when compared with the year ended 31 March 2022, resulting in a higher
than expected demand for our products.

Gross Profit and Gross Profit Margin

The Group’s gross profit increased by approximately HK$3.8 million or
9.6%, to approximately HK$43.4 million for the Year, from approximately
HK$39.6 million for the year ended 31 March 2022, primarily due to the
increase in revenue as mentioned above. Gross profit margin was
approximately 27.6% for the Year as compared to gross profit margin of
approximately 27.9% for the year ended 31 March 2022.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group recorded net other gains of approximately HK$0.5 million for
the Year as compared to the net other gains of approximately HK$2.4
million for the year ended 31 March 2022. This was mainly attributable to
the increase in fair value loss on financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss for the Year.

Fair value changes of financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss and securities investment

In March 2022, the Company acquired listed securities on the open
markets at an aggregate consideration of approximately HK$23.4 million.
As at 31 March 2023, the fair value of the listed securities held by the
Company amounted to approximately HK$23.3 million (31 March 2022:
approximately HK$25.0 million). Dividend income of approximately
HK$1.1 million (2022: approximately HK$0.2 million) were received from
the investment of listed securities during the Year. Details of which in
respect of the acquisition of listed securities are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 8 March 2022 and 9 March 2022 respectively.
Save as disclosed in this annual report, there was no other additional
acquisition or disposal of listed securities during the Year.

The Group regularly monitors its investment performance and make
appropriate investment decisions regularly. In addition, the Group would
allocate part of its idle resources from time to time to purchase principal-
guaranteed wealth management products to increase its overall return.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

FINANCIAL REVIEW (Continued)
Selling and Distribution Expenses

The Group’s selling and distribution expenses increased by approximately
HK$2.1 million or 27.9%, to approximately HK$9.5 million for the Year,
from approximately HK$7.4 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
mainly due to the increase in freight, transportation and storage costs as
a result of the increase in revenue during the Year.

Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses increased by approximately HK$4.0
million or 11.1%, to approximately HK$39.8 million for the Year, from
approximately HK$35.8 million for the year ended 31 March 2022,
primarily due to the increase in staff costs during the Year.

Net Loss

The Group recorded a net loss of approximately HK$3.6 million for the
Year as compared to the net loss of approximately HK$1.5 million for the
year ended 31 March 2022. This was mainly attributable to the increase
in fair value loss in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
impairment losses under expected credit loss model, freight,
transportation and storage costs, and staff costs, partially offset with the
increase in revenue, gross profit and taxation credit during the Year.

STRATEGY AND PROSPECTS

During the Year, the Group continued to develop its various business and
geographical segments. In Hong Kong, there has been continuous
improvement in the progress of the approval of budgets of public works
projects by the Finance Committee. It is anticipated that the progress of
budget approval and administration of public works projects will continue
to improve for the remainder of the year.

Internationally, as the travelling and quarantine restrictions relax, the
Group will continue to promote and develop our international businesses
at the overseas exhibitions and trade shows when resumed.

Overall, the Group is cautiously positive towards the future of the
construction market and the business of the Group in Hong Kong and
internationally, and will continue its efforts to capture business
opportunities in Hong Kong, Macau and the overseas markets.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s total cash and cash equivalents
amounted to approximately HK$66.0 million of which approximately
67.8%, 27.6%, 2.5% and 2.1% of the cash and cash equivalents were
denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi, United States dollar and
Euro respectively (31 March 2022: approximately HK$64.6 million of
which approximately 66.2%, 29.6%, 3.2% and 1.0% of the cash and
cash equivalents were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Renminbi,
United States dollar and Euro respectively).

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately
HK$13.2 million (31 March 2022: nil) with variable interest rate, which
were repayable within one year and were guaranteed by the Company.
As at 31 March 2023, the Group’s other borrowing of approximately
HK$15.0 million (31 March 2022: approximately HK$20.0 million) had
fixed interest rate of 1.0% (31 March 2022: 1.0%) per annum and was
repayable within one year, which was unsecured. As at 31 March 2023,
the Group’s bank borrowings were denominated in Hong Kong dollar
and United States dollar. As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, other
borrowing was denominated in Hong Kong dollar.

The gearing ratio of the Group as at 31 March 2023 (defined as the
Group’s total interest-bearing liabilities divided by the Group’s total
equity) was approximately 22.4% (31 March 2022: 17.7%). The increase
in gearing ratio is mainly due to the increase in bank borrowings during
the Year.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at 31 March 2023, the Company’s issued share capital was
HK$38,000,000 and the number of its issued ordinary shares was
380,000,000 of HK$0.1 each.

During the Year, there was no change to the authorised and issued share
capital of the Company.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

B LT

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENT AND
CAPITAL ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group did not have plan for material investment
and capital assets.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS, MATERIAL ACQUISITIONS
AND DISPOSALS

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there has been no significant
investment, material acquisition or disposal of subsidiaries and associated
companies by the Group during the Year.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Group has not had any material contingent liability as at 31 March
2023 and 31 March 2022.

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the Group had no capital
commitments.

CHARGE ON GROUP ASSETS

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had bank borrowings of approximately
HK$13.2 million (31 March 2022: nil) which were guaranteed by the
Company.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEE R MO

CASH FLOW MANAGEMENT AND LIQUIDITY RISK

The Group’s objective regarding cash flow management is to maintain a
balance between continuity of funding and flexibility through a
combination of internal resources, bank borrowings, and other debt or
equity securities, as appropriate. The Group is comfortable with the
present financial and liquidity position, and will continue to maintain a
reasonable liquidity buffer to ensure sufficient funds are available to meet
liquidity requirements at all times.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our Group’s operations are mainly in Hong Kong and the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”), and most of the operating transactions,
revenue, expenses, monetary assets and liabilities are denominated in
Hong Kong dollars and Renminbi. As such, the Directors are of the view
that the Group’s risk in foreign exchange is insignificant and that we
should have sufficient resources to meet foreign exchange requirements
as and if it arises. The Group has not engaged in any derivative to hedge
its exposure to foreign exchange risk.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PUBLIC OFFER

The net proceeds from the public offer received by the Company, after
deduction of the underwriting commissions and other related listing
expenses payable by the Company in the public offer, were
approximately HK$88.3 million.

As disclosed in the Company’s announcement dated 22 June 2022, the
Board has resolved to re-allocate the unutilised net proceeds of
approximately HK$8.0 million to provide funding for our working capital
and other general corporate purposes (the “Change in UOP”).

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
B LT

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM THE PUBLIC OFFER Contiued) AR EFREBHREAR @)

The Company had utilised all the net proceeds of approximately HK$88.3 H-_ZE-—=#F#=HA=+—H AAFEHHE2

million and there are no unutilised net proceeds as at 31 March 2023. RSB R EA88. 3 F & T - Wi ABH
FIS5IRFEE ©

The table below sets out the utilisation of the net proceeds up to 31 T E&HIEHE—"T-—=F=A=+—HEAEFFN

March 2023: FRIEFRENER
Used Unused
Estimated Adjusted amounts amounts
Net Proceeds net proceeds as at as at
as per the Actual Net after Change 31 March 31 March
Prospectus Proceeds in UOP 2023 2023
REARER HERBNE WITZ=F RIBZ=F
WEEt G BEfE RREEHR =ZA=+-B =ZA=t+-H
Use of net proceeds FERERERAR RIEFE REFE FENEFE WCBHALE NABHALHE

HKS$’ million HK$’ million HKS$’ million HK$’ million HK$’ million
BEAT BEETL BEETL BEATL BEET

Investing in new manufacturing facility RENEER 48.0 50.4 504 50.4 -
Research and development e 39 4.4 4.4 4.4 -
Participation in overseas exhibition and 2INENRE REELH 9.6 9.7 5.1 5.1 -
promotions
Purchase of brand new driling machineries BB B2 8.2 8.8 8.8 8.8 -
Increasing manpower in Hong Kong EINEEHATE 3.8 4.4 3.3 3.3 -
Renting of new office for Hong Kong HEEBELHPNE 3.2 3.5 1.2 1.2 -
headquarters
Working capital and other general REZSREM—MBY 6.9 7.1 15.1 15.1 -
corporate purposes B
83.6 88.3 88.3 88.3 -
EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES B & R FHM R

As at 31 March 2023, the Group had approximately 87 employees 31 R_T_=F=A=+—HB XEERELERK
March 2022: approximately 80 employees) in Hong Kong and the PRC. HFEIHER#87TREE(Z T - —F=A=1+—
The Group’s remuneration policy is reviewed periodically and determined B : 180 % {& 8) o A& B 7F Bt s BB UK
by reference to market terms, company performance, and individual ~ W2ZWISHER - A RIRRAREAEE KK
qualifications and performance. Other staff benefits include bonuses ~ FRIEEE  Bfth 8 TR BIEREBEEEEK
awarded on discretionary basis, mandatory provident fund scheme for ~ HIEAL « B&EBE S MR EHIERTE S5 S
Hong Kong employees, and state-sponsored retirement plans for PRC N /&% El{fE 8 MR ABE K EBIRIKET 8 - K&
employees. The Group also offers a variety of training schemes to its ~ E7rAIHE B R HE B TR EFIIFHE -
employees.

BEEEZERERAR ~| 3
2022/23 F 1



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

Al A~ N

PEERWRE

COMPLIANCE OF THE CODE

The Company focuses on maintaining a high standard of corporate
governance for purposes of enhancing the value for its shareholders and
protecting their interests. The Company has established the corporate
governance structure in accordance with the Listing Rules and the
Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) provided in Appendix 14 to
the Listing Rules and has set up a series of corporate governance
measures. The Company has adopted and complied with such provisions
of the Code (the “Code Provision(s)’) as stated in the Code during the
Year except for the Code Provision of C.2.1.

In accordance with Code Provision C.2.1, the roles of chairman and chief
executive should be separated and should not be performed by the same
individual. The division of responsibilities between the chairman and chief
executive should be clearly established and set out in writing. The
Company currently does not have any officer with the title of chairman or
chief executive. The functions of chairman and chief executive officer
were performed by the Executive Directors and the general manager
respectively. Notwithstanding the aforementioned, the Board will review
the current structure from time to time and as and when appropriate if
candidate with suitable leadership, knowledge, skills and experience is
identified, the Company may make the necessary modification to the
management structure.

The Board will examine and review, from time to time, the Company’s
corporate governance practices and operations in order to meet the
relevant provisions under the Listing Rules and to protect the
shareholders’ interests.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in Appendix
10 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its code of conduct for regulating
securities transactions by Directors. Following a specific enquiry to all
Directors by the Company, all Directors have confirmed that they have
complied with the required standard set out in the Model Code
throughout the Year.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Gomposition

As at 31 March 2023 and the date of this report, the Board comprises (i)
two Executive Directors, namely Mr. Chui Kwong Kau and Ms. Li Kai Lai
Miranda; and (i) three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Ms.
Lam Hoi Yu Nicki, Mr. Lau Leong Yuen and Mr. Yiu To Wa.

An updated list of the Directors and their roles and functions is published
on the websites of the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and of the
Company (www.yukwing.com), respectively.

There are no financial, business, family or other material relationships
among members of the Board.

During the Year, the Company has at least three Independent Non-
executive Directors (representing at least one-third of the Board), in
compliance with the requirements of Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of
the Listing Rules and among whom, at least one Independent Non-
executive Director possess professional qualifications or accounting
knowledge or professional knowledge related to finance management.
The Board believes there is sufficient independence element in the Board
to safeguard the interest of Shareholders.

Confirmation of independence

After taking into consideration of the factors regarding the evaluation of
the independence of the Independent Non-executive Directors pursuant
to Rule 3.183 of the Listing Rules, and the annual written confirmation of
independence given by each of the Independent Non-executive Directors,
the Board believes that all Independent Non-executive Directors shall be
independent individuals.

Independence mechanisms

The Company has put in place mechanisms to ensure independent views
and input are available to the Board. All the Directors, including the
Independent Non-executive Directors, have the right to express their
views to the Board and separately and independently access to the
management of the Group to make informed decisions. The Directors are
entitled to seek advice from the company secretary of the Company or,
upon reasonable request, seek independent professional advice at the
Company’s expenses to assist the Directors to discharge their duties to
the Company. All Independence Non-executive Directors attended all the
meetings of the Board and its relevant committees held during the Year.
The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and input are provided to the
Board during the Year.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Directors’ Responsibilities

The Board has an ultimate oversight of the Group’s activities. Its primary
functions are to set and direct the Company’s strategy and to monitor
and measure the management’s performance. The Board is accountable
for the overall strategic development of the Group with the objective to
enhance shareholder value. Material matters are reserved for the Board’s
considerations or decisions which include, among other things, overall
strategy of the Group, business plans, annual budgets, significant capital
expenditure, interim and annual results and reports, dividend policy and
payments, material acquisitions, disposals or investment proposals,
directors’ appointments, re-appointments or removal, and other material
transactions.

The Board has delegated certain of its responsibilities to the Audit and
Compliance Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee. It has also delegated the day-to-day operations
of the Group’s business to the senior management.

Delegation to Management

The senior management is responsible for the specific implementation of
the resolutions of the Board and of the daily business management and
operations of the Group, which includes formulating (i) the Company’s
operating plan and investment proposal, (i) the plan of establishing the
internal management authority, (i) the basic management system of the
Company and (iv) the Company’s specific regulations. The Executive
Directors and senior executives meet regularly to review the performance
of the businesses of the Group as a whole, co-ordinate overall resources
and make financial and operational decisions. The Board also gives clear
directions as to their powers of management including circumstances
where management should report back, and will review the delegation
arrangements on a periodic basis to ensure that they remain appropriate
to the needs of the Group.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Meetings

Pursuant to the Code Provision C.5.1 of the Code, the Board should
meet regularly and Board meetings should be held at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Agenda of Board meetings are
presented to the Directors for comments and approval. Each Director
may include any item in the agenda. The Board is provided with
adequate, timely and reliable information about the Group’s business and
developments before each Board meeting at which the Directors actively
participate and hold informed discussions. A notice of regular board
meeting shall be given to all directors at least 14 days before the meeting
is convened pursuant to the requirements of the Code, and such notice
shall state the date, time and venue of the meeting to be convened and
the format to be adopted of such meeting. Other interim Board meetings
have reasonable notices be delivered to all Directors.

The quorum for a Board meeting shall be the presence of two Directors.
The Directors may participate in any meeting of the Board either in
person or through electronic means of communications, for the purpose
of counting a quorum, such participation shall constitute presence at a
meeting as if those participating were present in person. The secretary of
the Company’s Board is responsible for preparing and safekeeping the
minutes of the Board meetings and ensuring that the Directors can
enquire about such minutes.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

Board Meetings (Continued)

Attendance record of Directors

Five Board meetings, three Audit and Compliance Committee meetings,
one Remuneration Committee meeting, one Nomination Committee
meeting and one general meeting were held during the Reporting Period.
Attendances of these meetings by Directors held during the Year are set
out below:

BEE2)

EEEYE(F)

EENBH I E

RBEBN - AR ERARAEES RS -
SRERRARESERS  —AFWEES
8% —NEEREEREERKBEAR -

RAFEE  EFHEZEEZNEMOT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held for

the year ended 31 March 2023

BE-B-ZF-AC+-HUFELRERRY ETEERY

Audit and
Compliance Remuneration Nomination General
Board Committee Committee Committee meetings
ERR
Directors 3 Exg EREES FHZES EtZEe BRAE
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau B EE 5/5 N/ANE A N/ATE R N/A7RE 11
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda FRBERL 5/5 N/AE A N/ATEF N/ATNE R i
Independent non-executive BYFHTES
Directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki ezt 5/5 3/3 1/1 11 11
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen ERELE 5/5 3/3 11 11 1/1
Mr. Yiu To Wa HhEERE 5/5 3/3 1/1 1/1 1/1

Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors

Each of the Directors has entered into a letter of appointment with the
Company. Each of them is subject to his retirement by rotation and re-
election at an annual general meeting of the Company in accordance
with the Articles. Pursuant to Article 83(3) of the Articles, the Board shall
have power from time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a
Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or as an additional to
the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual
vacancy or as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until
the next following general meeting or next following annual general
meeting of the Company respectively and shall then be eligible for re-
election at the meeting in accordance with the Articles.

-I 8 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (Continued)
Appointment, Re-election and Removal of Directors (Continued)

Pursuant to Article 84(1) of the Articles, at each annual general meeting
of the Company, one-third of the Directors for the time being, shall retire
from office by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to
retirement at an annual general meeting at least once every three years
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 83(5) of the Articles, the members of the Company
may, at any general meetings convened and held in accordance with the
Articles, remove a Director by ordinary resolution at any time before the
expiration of his period of office notwithstanding anything to the contrary
in the Articles or in any agreement between the Company and such
Director.

Directors’ Training and Professional Development

Each newly appointed Director is provided with comprehensive induction
to ensure that he/she has a proper understanding of the operations and
businesses of the Group as well as the director’s duties, responsibilities,
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory
requirements.

During the Year, the Directors were provided with regular updates on the
Group’s business and operation and the information which covered
topics, including but not limited to, the Code, disclosure and compliance
of inside information, updates and changes in relation to legislative and
regulatory requirements in which the Group conducts its business, and
reading materials which are relevant to their duties and responsibilities for
their study and reference. During the Year, all Directors have participated
in continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills pursuant to the Code Provision C.1.4 of the Code.
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TERERMS

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance duties
including:

(i) to develop and review the Company’s policies and practices on
corporate governance;

(i)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

(i)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(v) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and Directors;
and

(v)  toreview the Company’s compliance with the Code.

The Board had performed the above duties during the Year.

2 O Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES

Our Board delegates certain responsibilities to various committees. In
accordance with relevant laws, regulations, the Articles of Association
and the certain rules and regulations, we have formed three board
committees, namely the Audit and Compliance Committee, the
Remuneration Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Audit and Compliance Committee

The Company has established the Audit and Compliance Committee with
written terms of reference in accordance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing
Rules and the Code. The Audit and Compliance Committee consists of
three Independent Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Yiu To Wa (being
the chairman of the Audit and Compliance Committee), Mr. Lau Leong
Yuen and Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki. Mr. Yiu To Wa possesses the
appropriate professional and accounting qualifications.

The principal duties of the Audit and Compliance Committee include,
among other things, (i) recommending to the Board on the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of the Company’s external auditor and on
its remuneration; (i) reviewing the Company’s interim and annual financial
statements and other financial reports; and (jii) reviewing the Company’s
financial reporting system, internal control procedures (including
monitoring the effectiveness of the internal audit function) and risk
management system.

During the Year, the Audit and Compliance Committee held three
meetings with the independent auditors and the senior management of
the Company to consider the independence and audit scope of
independent auditor, and to review and discuss the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal audit and risk control function, consolidated interim
and annual financial statements of the Group and the opinion and report
of independent auditor before reporting and submitting to the Board for
their approval.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the Remuneration Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rule 3.25 of the Listing Rules and
the Code. The Remuneration Committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki (being the
chairman of the Remuneration Committee), Mr. Lau Leong Yuen and Mr.
Yiu To Wa.

The principal responsibilities of the Remuneration Committee are to
establish and review the policy and structure of the remuneration for the
Directors and senior management, to establish the performance
evaluation standard, procedures and system, to annually evaluate the
performance of the Directors and senior management, to make
corresponding recommendations to the Board, and to perform other
duties and responsibilities as assigned by the Board.

The emoluments of the Executive Directors are determined based on the
skills, knowledge, individual performance as well as contributions, the
scope of responsibility and accountability of such Directors, taking into
consideration the Company’s performance and prevailing market
conditions. The remuneration policy of the Independent Non-executive
Directors is to ensure that they are adequately compensated for their
efforts and time dedicated to the Company’s affairs including their
participation in respective Board committees. The emoluments of
Independent Non-executive Directors are determined with reference to
their skills, experience, knowledge, duties and market trends. The
remuneration of Directors and senior management is reviewed at least
annually.

During the Year, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to
review the remuneration structure of the Directors and senior
management and made recommendation to the Board for approval.

Pursuant to code provision E.1.5 of the Code, details of the remuneration
payable to members of senior management by band for the Year are set
out in Note 11 to the consolidated financial statements.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)
Nomination Committee

The Company has established the Nomination Committee with written
terms of reference in accordance with Rules 3.27A of the Listing Rules
and the Code. The Nomination Committee consists of three Independent
Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Lau Leong Yuen (being the
chairman of the Nomination Committee), Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki and Mr.
Yiu To Wa.

The principal responsibilities of the Nomination Committee are to review
the scale, structure and composition of the Board and the board diversity
policy adopted by the Company on a regular basis, to consider and
recommend to the Board suitable and qualified candidates of the director
and senior management, to review the independence of the Independent
Non-executive Directors, and to perform other duties and responsibilities
as assigned by the Board.

During the Year, the Nomination Committee held one meeting (i) to review
and consider the structure, size, diversity and composition of the Board;
(i) to assess the independence of Independent Non-executive Directors;
(iii) to consider the re-election of Directors at the annual general meeting;
and (iv) to recommend the aforesaid matters to the Board for approval.
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BOARD DIVERSIFICATION POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity
Policy”) since the Listing Date. With a view to achieving a sustainable
and balanced development, the Company sees increasing diversity at the
Board level as an essential element in supporting the attainment of its
strategic objectives and its sustainable development. In designing the
Board’s composition, Board diversity has been considered from a
number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skKills,
knowledge and length of service. All Board appointments will be based
on meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective
criteria, having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board.

Selection of candidates will be based on a range of diversity perspectives
including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. The ultimate decision will be based on merit and
contribution that the selected candidates will bring to the Board.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for ensuring the diversity of the
Board members and compliance with relevant codes governing board
diversity under the Listing Rules. The Nomination Committee and the
Board will monitor the implementation of the Board Diversity Policy and
review the Board Diversity Policy and the Board composition under
diversified perspectives annually to ensure its continued effectiveness.
The Nomination Committee will discuss any revisions that may be
required, and recommend any such revisions to the Board for
consideration and approval.
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BOARD DIVERSIFICATION POLICY continued)

During the Year, the Board, through the Nomination Committee, has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the Board Diversity
Policy and the composition of the Board, and concluded that the
Company had met the diversification requirements with regard to gender,
age, cultural and educational background, professional experience, skills
and knowledge. When making the appointment and re-appointment of
Directors in the future, the Nomination Committee will nominate new
Directors pursuant to the requirements of the Board Diversity Policy to
achieve the objective of diversity in Board members.

Gender diversity

The Company has also taken steps to promote gender diversity at all
levels of the Company, including but not limited to the Board and the
management levels. During the Year and currently, 2 out of the 5
Directors are female. The Board will use its best endeavour to maintain
the gender diversity at the Board and at mid to senior level of the Group.

Gender ratio in the workforce is set out in the Environmental, Social and
Governance (‘ESG”) Report of the Company to be published at the same
time as this annual report is published on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company respectively. The Group make its best
endeavour to encourage gender diversity since recruitment and selection
process and across its workplace.
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NOMINATION POLICY

The Board has also adopted the nomination policy (the “Nomination
Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and nomination procedures
to identify, select and recommend candidates for directorships.

Selection Criteria

When assessing the suitability of the proposed candidate to the Board
regarding the appointment or re-appointment of any existing director(s) of
the Board, the Nomination Committee should consider the following
factors:

The candidate should be of good character, integrity and
competent to act as director of the Company;

The candidate should possess qualifications including professional
qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to
the Group’s business and corporate strategy;

The candidate should be able to devote sufficient time to discharge
duties as a Board member and other directorships and significant
commitments;

The candidates should be considered on merit, against objective
criteria and with due regard to the diversity perspectives set out in
the Board Diversity Policy of the Company; and

The candidates for independent non-executive directorship should
meet the “independence” criteria as required under the Listing
Rules and the composition of the Board is in conformity with the
provisions of the Listing Rules.

The Nomination Committee may also consider such other factors as it
may deem are in the best interests of the Company and the Shareholders
as a whole.

260

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23

REBER
EF RN RMERICE (REBE]) - Ko
WIYE  WRREBEEFREADTEDE
BiRBIRF ©

ERERENZETNEFSRAES MG
EXeREEFENAENK  RRZBQEDE
BIATAHE :

j

[ ]
—

RIEABREER  BERAENBE

RAPESE:
e BEARAGEAKEEIEXHRLAF

BAMSEE(RETEER) B
VB RATER |

&

J RiEAEREAR AT ERRIABITIES
EEgNENEMESBENBERE
RAEHE

s EBREFESEVYRNEZEELAESE
REZTIEBREPRENZ TLBER
ERIREA R

s BUNRTEFNREABRNTA LTR
AFFRER BN | REREEGNKE
MEENE EmRARE -

RAZEBENAZRERR/TEARALER
MEESEMNSNEREMRESE -

7



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

;LI/_/\—/\—\

PEERWRE

NOMINATION POLICY (Continued)

Nomination Procedures

1.

The Nomination Committee shall utilise various methods for
identifying candidates for directorship, including recommendations
from Board members, management, and professional search firms;

The Nomination Committee shall consider candidates for
directorship properly submitted by the Shareholders;

The Nomination Committee shall undertake adequate due diligence
in respect of appointment of any proposed candidate to the Board,
prior to making recommendations for the Board’s consideration
and approval;

The Nomination Committee shall consider and recommend to the
Board the re-election of any existing Director(s) for the proposed
candidates at the general meeting; and

The Board shall make recommendation to the Shareholders in
respect of the proposed re-election of director at the general
meeting.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS

The Board and the senior management are accountable for the overall
responsibility in respect of monitoring the implementation of internal
control and risk management procedures and other measures in the
Group. The Company’s risk management and internal control system
aims at managing but not eliminating the risk of not being able to achieve
the business objectives. Moreover, only reasonable but not absolute
warranties can be given for statements which are not materially untrue or
will not result in material losses.

The Board has conducted an annual review of the effectiveness of the
Company’s risk management and internal control systems through
discussion with the Audit and Compliance Committee. The Board
believed that the Company’s risk management and internal control
systems are effective and sufficient, and is satisfied that the Group has
fully complied with the Code in respect of internal controls during the
Year.

We have appointed external professional advisors (including the auditor
or other advisors) for provision of professional advice in respect of how
we observe applicable laws and regulations.

The Board has reviewed the need for an internal audit function and is of
the view that in light of the size, nature and complexity of the business of
the Group, it would be more cost effective to appoint external
independent professionals to perform internal audit function for the Group
in order to meet its needs.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (Continue)

During the Year, the Group appointed BT Corporate Governance Limited
(originally known as Baker Tilly Hong Kong Risk Assurance Limited and
subsequently known as Corporate Governance Professionals Limited)
(“BTCGL”) to:

° assist in identifying and assessing the risks of the Group, including
ESG-related risks, through a series of discussions and interviews;
and

° independently perform internal control review and assess the
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control
systems.

The results of the independent review and assessment were reported to
the Audit and Compliance Committee and the Board. Moreover,
improvements in internal control and risk management measures as
recommended by BTCGL to enhance the risk management and internal
control systems, and risk mitigating measures of the Group were adopted
by the Board. Based on the findings and recommendations of BTCGL,
as well as the comments from the Audit and Compliance Committee, the
Board considered the internal control and risk management systems are
effective and adequate.

Enterprise Risk Management Framework

The Group has established its enterprise risk management framework.
While the Board has the overall responsibility to ensure that sound and
effective internal controls are maintained, management is responsible for
designing and implementing internal control systems to manage all kinds
of risks faced by the Group.

Through the risk identification and assessment processes, risks are
identified, assessed, prioritised and treated. The Group’s risk
management framework follows the COSO Enterprise Risk Management
— Integrated Framework, which allows the Board and management to
manage the risks of the Group effectively. The Board receives regular
reports through the Audit and Compliance Committee that oversees risk
management and internal audit functions.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)  [ELB& B 18 I R ZBES 42 (4)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties

TERBRTHABREE

The following principal risks of the Group were identified and classified AREE - KEBEDHEHFIATEER R - A
into compliance risks, financial risks, operational risks and strategic risks  ZZ RO EASRER - BEER - ZiER

during the Year.

Risk Areas

Nt

& M SR ES MR

Principal Risks

FEEMRE

Compliance Risks
ARER

Financial Risks
B 75 [ B

Operational Risks
ZiER R

Strategic Risks
SRS R B

Compliance Risk

No significant risk identified
WA EAR R

No significant risk identified
WA EAR R

Risk of over-concentration of customers and suppliers
P RAEERBAE EPRR

Absence of appointment of chairman and chief
executive officer

WESAE L E RATHAER

No significant risk identified
W EZ R EARR

BRER

This is the risk of exposure to legal penalties and/or financial loss due to =% &\ [ AR AN E E KRB ST A E ROEIR A
the fact that the Group fails to comply with the relevant laws and [ RSB M E e AR R S ST 1518 1

regulations as well as internal policies. This also includes reputation risk. B o BB IEERERR -
Financial Risk M E R

The financial risk, which covers credit risk, liquidity risk, exchange rate  Bf i@ R EEZERE - ReEEE - B
risk and interest rate risk, etc, is associated with the financial impacts of Z@E e LA XREME B SN EEEs

the transactions.

Operational Risk

A -

gERR

The operational risk results from inadequate or failed internal processes,
and inadequate, inefficient or ineffective people and system. This includes
fraud risk, vendor outage and/or processing errors, etc.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
Strategic Risk

The current and prospective adverse impact on earnings and/or capital
arises from adverse business development decisions, improper strategic
decision-making process, and/or lack of responsiveness to industry
changes, etc.

Risk Control Mechanism

The Group adopts a “three lines of defence model” corporate governance
structure with operational management and controls performed by
operations management, coupled with risk management monitoring
carried out by the finance team and independent internal audit function
outsourced to and conducted by BTCGL. The Group has adopted risk
management policy and procedures (the “Risk Management Policy”)
and maintains a risk register to keep track of all identified major risks of
the Group. The risk register provides the Board, the Audit and
Compliance Committee, and management with a profile of its major risks
and records management’s action taken to mitigate the relevant risks.
Each risk is evaluated at least annually based on its likelihood of
occurrence and potential impact upon the Group. The risk register is
updated by management as the risk owners with addition of new risks
and/or removal of existing risks, if applicable, at least annually, after the
annual risk evaluation has been performed. This review process can
ensure that the Group proactively manages the risks faced by it in the
sense that all risk owners have access to the risk register and are aware
of and alert to those risks in their area of responsibility so that they can
take follow-up action in an efficient and timely manner.

The Group’s risk management activities are performed by management
on an ongoing basis. The effectiveness of the Group’s risk management
framework is evaluated at least annually, and periodic management
meeting is held to update the progress of risk monitoring efforts.
Management is committed to ensure that risk management forms part of
the daily business operation processes in order to align risk management
with corporate goals in an effective manner.

The Company will continue to engage external independent professionals
to review the Group’s system of internal controls and risk management
annually to further enhance the Group’s internal control and risk
management systems as appropriate.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROLS (continued)
Handling and Dissemination of Inside Information

The Company places a great emphasis on inside information
management. For purposes of strengthening the confidentiality of inside
information, maintaining the fairness of information disclosure and
protecting the legal interests and rights of the vast number of investors,
the Company’s information disclosure system and mechanism is
established in accordance with the Listing Rules, the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO”)
and domestic or foreign laws, regulations and other regulatory
requirements. Since the Listing Date, the Company has strictly developed
information disclosure pursuant to the regulatory requirements and
expressly stipulated that the Board shall manage in uniform manner and
be responsible for the Company’s information disclosure. Moreover,
detailed provisions in respect of the managerial responsibility of the
Directors, senior management and officers in charge of branches or
subsidiaries shall be made.

DIRECTORS’ LIABILITY TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparing the Group’s
consolidated financial statements in accordance with statutory
requirements and applicable accounting standards. The Directors also
acknowledge their responsibilities to ensure that the Group’s
consolidated financial statements are published in a timely manner.

REMUNERATION OF AUDITOR

For the Year, the Company has appointed Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited,
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditors, to provide the Company with
auditing service and the remuneration amounted to approximately
HK$0.7 million. The responsibilities of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as
to the consolidated financial statements are set out on pages 60 to 62 of
this annual report.

Non-audit services provided to the Group during the Year of
approximately HK$0.2 million for review of interim results and
approximately HK$0.1 million for other non-audit services.

COMPANY SECRETARY

During the Year, Ms. Choi Yee Man has undertaken not less than 15
hours relevant professional training in compliance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules. The biography of Ms. Choi Yee Man is set out in the
“Biographies of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual
report.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Convening an extraordinary general meeting

In accordance with the provisions of the Articles of Association of the
Company, the Shareholders shall be entitled to the following right: Any
one or more Shareholder(s) holding at the date of deposit of the
requisition not less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the secretary
of the Company, to require an extraordinary general meeting to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such
requisition. Such meeting shall be held within two (2) months after the
deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit
the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s)
himself (themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the
Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

As regards proposing a person for election as a Director by the
Shareholders, please refer to the procedures available on the website of
the Company.

Putting forward proposals at general meetings

There is no provision in the Articles of Association setting out procedures
for the Shareholders to put forward new resolutions at general meetings.
Shareholders who wish to put forward a new resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting in accordance with the
procedures set out in the preceding paragraph heading “Convening an
extraordinary general meeting”.

Shareholders are entitled to the inquiry right

Shareholders are entitled to make enquiries of which the Board should
pay attention, directly to the Company at its principal place of business in
Hong Kong at Unit B, 13/F., Eton Building, 288 Des Voeux Road Central,
Hong Kong. The Company will deal with all enquiries in a timely and
appropriate manner.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)
Shareholders Communication Policy

The Company believes that balanced, clear, transparent and effective
communications with the Shareholders is essential to enhancement of
the relationship with investors and enhancement of investors’
understanding of the Company’s business and strategies. The Company
highly values Shareholders’ opinions and suggestions, and actively
organises and conducts various activities related to the relationship with
investors in order to keep the communications with Shareholders, and to
timely satisfy the reasonable demands of all Shareholders.

To enhance effective communication, the Company maintains its website
at www.yukwing.com where latest information on the Company’s
business operations and developments, financial information, corporate
governance practices and other information are available for public
access.

The Company’s general meeting provides a useful platform for direct
communication between the Board and the Shareholders. The
Shareholders are encouraged to participate in general meetings of the
Company. Sufficient notice of general meetings will be given to the
Shareholders in accordance with the Articles and applicable rules and
regulations. The Directors, chairman of each Board committee,
management of the Company and, if appropriate, the external auditors,
will attend the general meetings and answer questions raised by the
Shareholders.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, an annual general meeting of the
Company was held on 17 August 2022 at which all the Directors
attended either by person or by means of electronic facilities to
communicate with the Shareholders. All corporate communications and
regulatory announcements were published on the websites of the
Company the Stock Exchange in a timely manner. The Board has
reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the shareholders
communication policy, and considered that the shareholders
communication policy has been properly implemented and effective
during the Year.
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RELATIONSHIP WITH INVESTORS

The Company believes that good relationship with investors may help
build more stable and consolidated shareholder base. As a result, since
the Listing Date, the Company has been and will be dedicated to
maintaining a higher degree of transparency, observing the Listing Rules
and timely providing investors with comprehensive and accurate
information, and sustainably performing the obligation of disclosing the
information of a listed company. The Company will strengthen its
communications with investors and let investors understand corporate
strategies and business operation by organising road shows, participating
in investors summit, voluntary information disclosure and others.

The Company will continue to maintain open-up and effective investors
communication policies for purposes of timely providing investors with
the latest information on the Company’s business when the Company is
in compliance with the relevant regulatory provisions.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

There was no amendment thereto the Company’s constitutional
documents during the Year. The Company’s Memorandum and Articles
of Association is available on the Company’s website and the Stock
Exchange’s website.

HEREENBR

ARARBR RIFREEBEBYRNELER
BElRBCRERE - B - 5 LW REIE - AR A
—HEYHBRNERRRERE - BT LEHARA
W REFRKEEREZE  EENER - K&
BT LM ARERBKENEE - ARAFER
BHREE  2NRELEES  BREEERR
Hip A pNog I EE 2 HMEE - mIREE
AR R 1D S SR B S SR A AR

ARG EERTFFN - BRNREEBRK
R EARRNAHEBEERENBLT &
BFRREERMEBARBEBHRNER

ABERNH

RAFER - DREARAVRBER XIS
4T - AATBHERKERAAITRAR
RV B BB BB -

BREBEEZERERAT
2022/23 F 1

35



BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (“Mr. Chui”), aged 56, has been our Executive
Director since 4 June 2021. He has over 20 years of experiences in
financial management, accounting, and auditing fields. Mr. Chui is
currently a non-executive director of Boill Healthcare Holdings Limited
(stock code: 1246) and a non-executive director of Wan Kei Group
Holdings Limited (stock code: 1718), all of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, and an executive director of Hong Kong
Life Sciences and Technologies Group Limited (previous stock code:
8085, the securities of which had been listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange until 14 September 2020).

He was an independent non-executive director of Aurum Pacific (China)
Group Limited which is listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8148) from March 2010 to March 2016, and an executive director
of China Energy Development Holdings Limited (stock code: 228) from
October 2005 to June 2016 and a non-executive director of DeTai New
Energy Group Limited (stock code: 559) from December 2015 to March
2020, all of which are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange.

Mr. Chui was an executive director of Ming Lam Holdings Limited
(previous stock code: 1106) from July 2019 to August 2020, the
securities of which had been listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange until 2 November 2021. Mr. Chui was informed that Ming Lam
Holdings Limited was ordered to be wound up and an official receiver
was appointed as the provisional liquidator by the High Court of Hong
Kong on 31 August 2020. Mr. Chui confirmed that he was not a party of
such winding up proceedings and is not aware of any actual or potential
claim that has been or will be made against him as a result of the above.

Mr. Chui was a non-executive director of Hsin Chong Group Holdings
Limited (‘HCGH”, previous stock code: 404) from May 2015 to March
2019 whose securities had been listed on the main board of the Stock
Exchange until 31 December 2019. HCGH was wound up by an order of
the Supreme Court of Bermuda dated 20 January 2020, following
winding-up petitions made by a creditor of HCGH. Mr. Chui confirmed
that he was not a party of such winding up proceedings and is not aware
of any actual or potential claim that has been or will be made against him
as a result of the above.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

On 11 April 2022, the Listing Committee of the Stock Exchange issued a
statement in which, among others, certain former members of the board
of HCGH have been criticised. Details of which in respect of Mr. Chui (as
a former non-executive director of HCGH) are set out in the Company’s
announcement dated 13 April 2022.

Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda (“Ms. Li”), aged 49, has been our Executive
Director since 9 January 2019. She also holds directorship in a subsidiary
of the Company. Ms. Li obtained a Diploma in Computer Programming
and Analysis from Seneca College of Applied Arts and Technology in
Canada in June 2004. She has over 10 years of experience in corporate
management. From 2009 to 2014, she was a director of Soho
Workstation Limited, a private company which was dissolved by
deregistration in January 2018, and was mainly responsible for
formulating marketing strategies and working on ad-hoc projects related
to business centre field. From 2009 to 2022, she was a director of Trusty
Surveyors Limited, mainly responsible for rental related service to tenants
and assisting with lease renewal. Since November 2010, she has also
been a director of Soho Funds Investment Limited, mainly responsible for
providing a spectrum of yachting solutions, including insurance, berthing,
captains and crew, management and emergency support services for
luxury yacht charter. Ms. Li was an independent non-executive director of
Hing Ming Holdings Limited (stock code: 8425) which is listed on GEM of
the Stock Exchange, from 9 May 2018 to 16 February 2022.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki (“Ms. Lam”), aged 36, has been our
Independent Non-executive Director since 20 April 2018. She is the
chairman of our Remuneration Committee and a member of our Audit
and Compliance Committee and the Nomination Committee.

Ms. Lam obtained a bachelor’s degree of science in Actuarial Science
from London School of Economics and Political Science, University of
London. She has experiences in business management, financial and
corporate secretarial services.

Mr. Lau Leong Yuen (“Mr. Lau”), aged 38, has been our Independent
Non-executive Director since 20 April 2018. He is the chairman of our
Nomination Committee and a member of our Audit and Compliance
Committee and the Remuneration Committee.

Mr. Lau obtained a bachelor’s degree of engineering in electronic and
communication from The City University of Hong Kong in 2008 and a
master degree of science in E-Commerce from the Hong Kong
Polytechnic University in 2011. He is currently a senior information
technology analyst in a leading air cargo terminal operator in Hong Kong.
Mr. Lau has over 10 years of experience in software engineering and
information technology system development. Mr. Lau currently serves as
an independent non-executive director of China Environmental Energy
Investment Limited, a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 986).

Mr. Yiu To Wa (“Mr. Yiu”), aged 40, has been our Independent Non-
executive Director since 27 May 2020. He is the chairman of the Audit
and Compliance Committee, and a member of the Remuneration
Committee and the Nomination Committee of the Company.

Mr. Yiu obtained his bachelor’s degree of business administration in
professional accountancy program from The Chinese University of Hong
Kong in 2005 and has been a certified public accountant of Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants since 2008. He has over 10
years of experience in financial accounting and auditing of listed
companies in Hong Kong. Mr. Yiu is currently an independent non-
executive director of China Environmental Energy Investment Limited
(stock code: 986), a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Yiu was an executive director of DeTai New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 559), a company listed on the Main Board of the
Stock Exchange, from 27 May 2021 to 22 July 2021.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Chan Leung Choi, aged 57, joined our Group in 1997 and is
responsible for overseeing the daily operational management and the
financial and business performance of our Group, as well as for the
overall strategy planning and management of the Company’s business.
Mr. Chan Leung Choi has over 30 years of experience in the engineering
and DTH rockdrilling tool industry, and is involved in the operational
matters, our manufacturing processes, contributing to engineering and
technical matters as well as being a key person of our sales and
marketing efforts locally and overseas. Mr. Chan Leung Choi holds
directorships in certain subsidiaries of the Group, and is the general
manager of Norry Tech Engineering Equipment Limited, a subsidiary of
our Group. Mr. Chan Leung Choi was our Chairman and Executive
Director from 17 March 2016, and Chief Executive Officer from 18 July
2016, and resigned from those positions on 13 April 2018.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chan Leung Choi joined The Hongkong
Electric Co., Ltd. in 1989 as graduate trainee in the training department
and worked as an assistant environmental engineer in the environment
section of power plant services department. From 1992 to 1993, Mr.
Chan Leung Choi was an employee of a trading company engaged in
sales of building materials. He then co-founded a construction equipment
trading company based in Hong Kong, and was a shareholder and
director of this company from 1994 to 1997.

Mr. Chan Leung Choi graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree of engineering in mechanical engineering, and
obtained his master’s degree in business administration from The
University of Warwick in the United Kingdom. He was an associate
member of the Institution of Mechanical Engineers in the United Kingdom
and a member of the Institute of Acoustics in the United Kingdom.

Mr. Chan Leung Choi is the husband of Ms. Liang Ning, the brother of
Mr. Chan Kin Choi, Mr. Chan Tat Choi and Ms. Chan Yuen Ming, who
are our senior management respectively.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chan Kin Choi, aged 50, joined our Group in 1997 and is the
product director of Top Mark, and the vice general manager and a
supervisor of Norry Tech Engineering Equipment Limited, a subsidiary of
the Group. Mr. Chan Kin Choi has over 20 years of experience in the
DTH rockdrilling tool industry. He is responsible for the overall
management of business operations, and is also in charge of our
engineering and technical processes. He also participates actively in our
sales and marketing efforts. Mr. Chan Kin Choi holds directorships in
certain subsidiaries of the Group. He was our Executive Director from 17
March 2016 to 13 April 2018.

Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Chan Kin Choi worked for a construction
equipment trading company based in Hong Kong. Mr. Chan Kin Choi
was awarded a higher diploma in electronic engineering by The Hong
Kong Polytechnic University in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chan Kin Choi is the brother of Mr. Chan Leung Choi, Mr. Chan Tat
Choi and Ms. Chan Yuen Ming, and the brother-in-law of Ms. Liang Ning,
who are our senior management respectively.

Mr. Chan Tat Choi, aged 47, joined our Group in 1999 in the sales and
marketing department, and is currently responsible for the management
of our sales and marketing operations both locally and overseas. He has
over 20 years of experience in the engineering and DTH rockdrilling tool
industry. He was our Executive Director from 17 March 2016 to 8
November 2018.

Mr. Chan Tat Choi graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University
in Hong Kong with a bachelor’s degree of science in applied
mathematics.

Mr. Chan Tat Choi is the brother of Mr. Chan Leung Choi, Mr. Chan Kin
Choi and Ms. Chan Yuen Ming, and the brother-in-law of Ms. Liang Ning,
who are our senior management respectively.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continuea)

Ms. Liang Ning, aged 43, joined our Group in 2007 as a director of
Norry Tech Engineering Equipment Limited, a subsidiary of the Company,
and is responsible for management of the operations of our factory
located in the Shunde District, Guangdong Province, PRC (“Shunde
Factory”), including overseeing the day-to-day operations of our
manufacturing operations, maintenance of our machines at our Shunde
Factory, as well as being responsible for the overall administrative, legal
and compliance work of our Shunde Factory and human resources
management of our production team at our Shunde Factory. Ms. Liang
has over 10 years of experience in the DTH rockdrilling tool industry. Ms.
Liang is the executive director and a legal representative of Norry Tech.
She was our Executive Director from 17 March 2016 to 13 April 2018.

Ms. Liang completed her education specialising in law from The Open
University of China in the PRC in 2014.

Ms. Liang is the wife of Mr. Chan Leung Choi, and the sister-in-law of Mr.
Chan Kin Choi, Mr. Chan Tat Choi, and Ms. Chan Yuen Ming, who are
our senior management respectively.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ming, aged 52, is our factory control manager. She
joined our Group in 2010 and is responsible for the administration and
coordination of the manufacturing process of our Group. She is in charge
of managing orders from customers, monitoring our work orders and
coordinating the production schedules at our Shunde Factory,
procurement of raw materials required by our manufacturing processes,
inventory management, and managing the shipping and export of the
products from our Shunde Factory in the PRC to Hong Kong and
overseas including the delivery of the final manufactured products to our
customers and attending to all administrative and compliance issues
including handling of warranty claims.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ming has nearly 10 years of experience in the DTH
rockdrilling tool industry and more than 16 years’ experience in sales and
merchandising. Ms. Chan Yuen Ming worked in various companies in the
sales and merchandising industry prior to joining our Group.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ming graduated from The Hong Kong Polytechnic
(currently known as The Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in Hong Kong
with a bachelor’s degree of science in textiles.

Ms. Chan Yuen Ming is the sister of Mr. Chan Tat Choi, Mr. Chan Leung
Choi and Mr. Chan Kin Choi, and the sister-in-law of Ms. Liang Ning, who
are our senior management respectively.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

EELERERERE

SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

Mr. Chow Jonathan Edward Chun-chung (“Mr. Chow”), aged 39, is
the chief financial officer of our Company. He joined our Group in April
2016. Mr. Chow is responsible for overseeing our Group’s financial and
accounting operations and internal controls, and provides financial and
business advices to the Board and senior management of our Group.

Mr. Chow has extensive experience in the areas of accounting, finance,
management and auditing. Mr. Chow started his career with
PricewaterhouseCoopers, an international accounting firm, in Hong
Kong. Before joining our Group, Mr. Chow was the chief financial officer
of a company engaged in the businesses of distribution and retailing of
branded consumer goods.

Mr. Chow graduated from the School of Oriental and African Studies,
University of London in the United Kingdom with a bachelor’'s degree of
science in economics. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong Institute
of Certified Public Accountants (‘HKICPA”) and the Institute of Chartered
Accountants in England and Wales.

Mr. Chow is currently a member of the Professional Accountants in
Business Committee and Branding and Communication Committee, and
was a committee member of the Young Members Committee of the
HKICPA. He is currently the chairman and management board member
of Hong Kong Guide Dogs Association Limited, and management board
member of Hong Kong Guide Dogs Academy Limited, both charitable
organisations registered in Hong Kong. Mr. Chow is currently an honorary
advisor to Haven of Hope Sister Annie Skau Holistic Care Centre in Hong
Kong, and a committee member of The Chinese People’s Political
Consultative Conference (CPPCC) of Shaoxing, Zhejiang Province. Mr.
Chow also holds positions of company secretary in certain subsidiaries of
the Company.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Choi Yee Man has been the company secretary of the Company
since 20 April 2018. Ms. Choi holds a bachelor’s degree in Business
Administration from The City University of Hong Kong. Ms. Choi started
her career in an international accounting firm and is a fellow member of
the HKICPA and the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and
Wales. Ms. Choi possesses extensive experience in the area of
accounting, finance, auditing and corporate secretarial matters.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EERE

The Directors hereby presents the annual report and the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2023.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company and details of the
principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out in Note 34 to the
consolidated financial statements. There was no significant change in the
Group’s principal activities during the Year.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Details of business review and future development of the Group’s
business are set out respectively in the sections headed “Business
Review” and “Strategy and Prospects” under “Management Discussion
and Analysis” of this annual report, and details of principal risks and
uncertainties are set out in the section under “Risk Management and
Internal Controls” of the “Corporate Governance Report”.

The Group understands the success of the Group’s business depends
on the support from its key stakeholders, including employees,
customers, suppliers, banks, regulators and shareholders. During the
Year, there were no material and significant dispute between the Group
and its key stakeholders. The Group will continue to ensure effective
communication and maintain good relationship with each of its key
stakeholders.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

An analysis of the Group’s performance for the Year by operating
segment is set out in Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Company and its subsidiaries for the year ended 31
March 2023 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income on page 63 of this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the distribution of a final dividend for the
year ended 31 March 2023.
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SHARE CAPITAL

Movements of the share capital of the Company during the Year are set
out in Note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIVIDEND POLICY

According to the dividend policy adopted by the Company, the Board
shall consider, among others, (i) the interest of the shareholders; (ii)
statutory and regulatory restrictions; (i) the actual and expected financial
results of the Group; (iv) factors having impacts on the business or
financial performance and position of the Group; (v) the Company’s
business strategy; (vi) the current and expected operations, liquidity
position and capital requirements of the Group; and (vii) the possible
effects on the Group’s credit-worthiness, the financial covenants to which
the Group is subject and any restrictions on the payment of dividends
that may be imposed by the Group’s lenders. Further, the Company’s
declaration of dividends is also subject to the compliance with the
Company’s Memorandum and Articles of Association, the Listing Rules,
and applicable laws and regulations.

The Company will review the dividend policy from time to time and
reserves the right in its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the dividend policy. The dividend policy shall not constitute
a legally binding commitment by the Company and there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount in any given period.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES AND PERFORMANCE

The Group is committed to the long term sustainability of the environment
and communities in which it operates. As a responsible corporation, the
Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations regarding
environmental protection, health and safety, workplace conditions and
employment and has endeavored to incorporate sustainability practices
into the policies and procedures. By adopting green operational
practices, the Group strives to reduce the environmental impacts caused
by the operations.

The Company will publish an ESG Report on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange.
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COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group recognises the importance of compliance with regulatory
requirements and the risk of non-compliance with the applicable rules
and regulations. To the best knowledge of the Directors, the Group has
complied in material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the Group
during the Year. There was no material breach of or non-compliance with
the applicable laws and regulations by the Group for the Year.

PURCHASE, SALE AND REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHT

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where the
Company is incorporated, which would oblige the Company to offer new
shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.

RESERVES

The details in relation to the changes in the reserves of the Group during
the Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity
on page 66 of this annual report. The Company’s reserves available for
distribution to shareholders as at 31 March 2023 are approximately
HK$65,113,000.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group is
set out on page 152 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements during the Year in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group are set out in Note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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DIRECTORS -

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this annual report RAREFEERBEEAFHRBABILCEERS -
were:

Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Chui Kwong Kau YRR E

Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda FRELL
Independent Non-executive Directors BIYKHTES
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki M+

Mr. Lau Leong Yuen REREE

Mr. Yiu To Wa S CE e

The Company has received the annual confirmations of the independence  ARNARIERIE FHFRBIE I 13 KEESIF L IE
from each of the Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance H{TEEBMEE B I EERE  WREMEE
with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and is of the opinion that all 3 ITESHEBILA T ©

Independent Non-executive Directors are independent.

In accordance with Article 84(1) of the Articles of Association, Ms. Lam  RIE/BL S 2 MBI E84(1) 15 - B IEHITE
Hoi Yu Nicki and Mr. Lau Leong Yuen as the Independent Non-executive — Eafgl N+ R 2| 2R 5 A S A FEE IR E A E
Directors shall retire from office at the forthcoming annual general K& FEF  REKAFASERAESRIESE
meeting and each of them, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-  3RiE{F o

election respectively.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR EENESNEEERRE
MANAGEMENT
Details of the biographies of the Directors and the senior management of BEERAEESREEE ZERAFBHNAE
the Group are set out on pages 36 to 42 of this annual report. REIBE42E -
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SERVICE CONTRACTS OF DIRECTORS

No Director eligible for re-election at the forthcoming annual general
meeting has a service contract with the Group which is not determinable
by the Group within one year without payment of compensation, other
than statutory compensation.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE FIVE HIGHEST
PAID INDIVIDUALS

The details of the remuneration of the Company’s Directors and the five
highest paid individuals of the Group are set out in Note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (AND THEIR CONNECTED
ENTITIES) IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors (and their
connected entities) is or was materially interested, directly or indirectly, in
any transaction, arrangement or contract of significance entered into by
the Company or its controlling shareholders or any of their respective
subsidiaries at any time during the Reporting Period or subsisted at the
end of the Year.

INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

During the Year, none of the Directors nor their associates (as defined in
the Listing Rules) had any competing interests in such business that is in
direct or indirect competition with any of the Group’s business.
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THE INTEREST AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE
DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE IN THE SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, as at 31 March 2023, none of the
Directors is a director or employee of a company which has an interest or
short position in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under the provision of
Divisions 2 and 3 Part XV of the SFO, and none of the Directors, the chief
executive of the Company nor their associates (as defined in the Listing
Rules) had any other interests or short positions in the shares of the
Company, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which
(i) were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or
short positions which any such Director or the chief executive of the
Company is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO);
or (i) were required to be entered into the register maintained by the
Company pursuant to Section 352 of Part XV of the SFO; or (iii) were
required to be notified to the Company or the Stock Exchange pursuant
to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR FEREREATARG KHEB
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING ROWEZR HAE
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2023, to the best knowledge of the Directors, the RZZT-=F=A=+—H  HOAQFRE
following persons/entities (other than Directors or chief executive of the &7 MHIE 5P %5 336 (FFT R EF EH L B
Company) had or were deemed or taken to have interests or short — RiEm MR BEBLMPAEEE - IREFFIRA
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company as A TFTAL /" EE(EFRHARFAETEZTHAER
recorded in the register of interests and short positions of substantial ~ B71) B SR sk & ER AR B K A8 R
shareholders required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section MR HEFERIAE -

336 of the SFO:

Substantial Shareholders of the Company AAREERR

Approximate
percentage of the total
Number of Shares issued share capital of

Name of Shareholder Nature of interest (share)® the Company (%)
HARATEBITHRA

IR & EEME ROEE (R BAEAHMOED L (%)

Colour Shine Beneficial owner 188,192,000 (L) 49.52%

s BiEA A 188,192,000 (S)©@ 49.52%

Mr. He Xiaoming® Interest of a controlled corporation 188,192,000 (L) 49.52%

A] SRR S A @ R AE R 188,192,000 (S)© 49.52%

Mr. Huang Shixin Beneficial owner 27,304,000 (L) 7.19%

mELA EnlEEA

Mr. Chan Leung Choi Beneficial owner 19,188,000 (L) 5.05%

FRERM 52 A& EmEBA

Table Notes: KIEM AT -

(1) The Letter “L” denotes a person’s long position (as defined under part XV of (1) FEIL XRRZALTEF@EROTAE
the SFO) in such Shares. The Letter “S” denotes a person’s short position MIFE(EHEAFHFRHAEKMEXV
(as defined under part XV of the SFO) in such Shares. ) e FEISIXZTZALTEF@ERSG

FARRHAR (ERRBHF LB BN
FEXVER) -

(2) 188,192,000 Shares are held by Colour Shine whose entire issued share (2) 188,192,000 KM A FERAE  ME
capital is held by Mr. He Xiaoming. Mr. He Xiaoming is also the sole director 1B 2B EHITRARMERELER
of Colour Shine as at 31 March 2023. B-R-Z-_=ZF=ZA=+—8 " fax

REEMATENE—SSE -

(3)  Colour Shine has charged 188,192,000 Shares to Kingston Securities @) MZZTEZ=F=A=+—0 " REBH
Limited as security as at 31 March 2023 pursuant to the share charge BT \F-A—HHEHMNEESE
entered into between Kingston Securities Limited as chargee and Colour RAT (VEAEMA) KB (EAHEHH
Shine as charger dated 1 February 2018. AMEYHBRHOhBRRE FEES

188,192,000 % f% 15 48 F & FI| &2 35 5
BRAFHEREMGS

BREBEEZERERAT
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND/OR
SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2023, the Directors were not
aware of any persons/entities (other than Directors or chief executive of
the Company) who/which had or were deemed or taken to have any
other interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company as recorded in the register of interests and short positions of
substantial shareholders required to be kept by the Company pursuant to
section 336 of the SFO.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Year, the Group did not enter into any contracts in respect of
the management and administration of all or any significant portion of the
business (except for such service contracts entered into with the Group’s
Directors and all employees) and there existed no such contracts in
respect of the management and administration of all or any significant
portion of the business (except for such service contracts entered into
with the Group’s Directors and all employees).

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

We have entered into some transactions with connected persons of the
Company. In accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules, such
transactions have constituted the connected transactions or continuing
connected transactions of the Company.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transaction — Lease Agreements

Top Champion Industries Limited entered into the following lease
agreements with Top Mark Mechanical Equipment Limited (“Top Mark ”)
(the “Lease Agreements”), pursuant to which Top Champion Industries
Limited as lessor agreed to lease to Top Mark as lessee the following
three premises (the “Chai Wan Premises”):

a.  Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 1 December 2015 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 9, 15/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our industrial warehouse in Hong
Kong for a term of 2 years. The lease was renewed. The terms and
agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental

(excluding government

rates, utilities,

management fees

Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 December 2015 to

30 November 2017 HK$21,900
from 1 December 2017 to

30 November 2019 HK$21,900
from 1 December 2019 to

30 November 2020 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2020 to

30 November 2021 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2021 to

30 November 2022 HK$27,000
from 1 December 2022 to

30 November 2023 HK$27,000

BEXS @)

BEEESS —HEHE
REBLARATNRBEREMBEBAERAD T
(BEEE )TN TRE RS HER
%)) B REREERAT(EALEA)
B B AR (A RTA) B T = @4
S Tt LR

a RZZ—HEE+-_A—0 HEBT%45
RARIEBEREWMET LB AN BB
B AT N TP L 15EIEY
EESHNAERR  EREMARES
WI¥eE AHAMT - ANCES
& - MEHR ke AT

wEAR

(FEERF®AE -

KERY EBE

HR REMER)
“2-HF+-A—HZ

—T—+§+—H=1H 21,9007 7C
“Z—+F+-A—HZ

- NF+—HA=T+H 21,9007 T
“T-NF+-A—HZ

ZE-TF+—-A=+H 27,0005 7T
“2-ZF+-A—HZ

—Z=—%+—-H=1H 27,0007 7C
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continueq)

Continuing Connected Transaction — Lease Agreements (Continued)

b.

52

Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 25 March 2020 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 2, 15/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip Street,
Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our operation team office in Hong
Kong for a term of 1 year. The lease was renewed. The terms and
agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental
(excluding government
rates, utilities,
management fees

Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 April 2020 to

31 March 2021 HK$19,740
from 1 April 2021 to

31 March 2022 HK$19,740
from 1 April 2022 to

31 March 2023 HK$19,740

Top Champion Industries Limited entered into a lease agreement
with Top Mark on 25 March 2020 in relation to the premises
situated at Unit 10, 25/F, Honour Industrial Centre, 6 Sun Yip
Street, Chai Wan, Hong Kong for use as our operation team office
in Hong Kong for a term of 1 year. The lease was renewed. The
terms and agreed monthly rental of the lease are set out belows:

Agreed monthly rental
(excluding government
rates, utilities,
management fees

Terms and other outgoings)

from 1 April 2020 to

31 March 2021 HK$20,850
from 1 April 2021 to

31 March 2022 HK$20,850
from 1 April 2022 to

31 March 2023 HK$20,850

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS (continued)
Continuing Connected Transaction — Lease Agreements (Continued)

Top Champion Industries Limited is a company incorporated in Hong
Kong with limited liability on 16 July 1999, and is owned as to 95% by
Mr. Chan Leung Choi. Mr. Chan Leung Choi holds director positions at
certain subsidiaries of our Group. Therefore, Top Champion Industries
Limited is an associate of a connected person of our Company by virtue
of Rule 14A.12(1)(c) of the Listing Rules.

Our rental expenses (excluding government rates, utilities, management
fees and other outgoings) in relation to the leasing of the Chai Wan
Premises for the Year are approximately HK$811,000.

The rental amounts payable by Top Mark under the Lease Agreements
were determined with reference to the prevailing market rent at that time
for similar premises. Our Directors (including our Independent Non-
executive Directors) consider that it is in the interests of our Company
and Shareholders as a whole to enter into the Lease Agreements.

Since each of the applicable percentage ratios (other than the profit ratio)
for the Lease Agreements is less than 5% on an annual basis, the total
consideration is less than HK$3,000,000, and the transaction is on
normal commercial terms, the transaction is fully exempt from the
reporting, annual review, announcement, circular, and independent
shareholders’ approval requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing
Rules.

The Company confirmed that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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RETIREMENT AND EMPLOYEE BENEFIT PLANS

Details of the retirement and employee benefits plans of the Group are
set out in Note 32 to the consolidated financial statements.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

Being a company listed on the Stock Exchange, the Company is always
dedicated to maintaining the corporate governance practices at a high
level. Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the
Company is set out in the Corporate Governance Report on pages 14 to
35 of this annual report.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and to the knowledge of the
Directors, there is sufficient public float of at least 25% of the Company’s
issued shares throughout the year and as at the date of this annual
report, in compliance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the revenue attributable to our top five customers was
approximately HK$99.1 million (2022: approximately HK$70.3 million),
accounting for approximately 63.1% (2022: approximately 49.6%) of the
total revenue of the Group.

During the Year, our purchases from our top five suppliers were
approximately HK$73.8 million (2022: approximately HK$51.5 million),
accounting for approximately 82.4% (2022: approximately 83.7%) of our
total purchases.

The Group’s top five customers and suppliers during the reporting period
were independent third parties, and none of our Directors, their
associates or any shareholder (who, to the knowledge of our Directors,
owned more than 5% of our Company’s share capital as at the date of
this annual report) had any interest in any of our top five customers or
suppliers during the Year.
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EVENTS AFTER REPORTING PERIOD

Save as disclosed in this annual report, there are no significant events
affecting the Group after the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit of the Directors of the
Company is currently in force and was in force throughout the Year. The
Company has taken out and maintained Directors and officers liability
insurance which provides appropriate cover for, among others, the
Directors of the Company.

DONATIONS

The Group made charitable or other donations of approximately
HK$72,000 during the Year.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2017 to 2021 have been audited by Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited has been appointed as the auditor of the
Company with effect from 5 October 2021 to fill the casual vacancy
following the resignation of Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as the auditor of
the Company. Save as disclosed above, there has been no other change
in the auditors of the Company in any of the preceding three years.

The consolidated financial statements for the years ended 31 March
2022 to 2023 have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, who
will retire and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting. A resolution for the re-appointment
of Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the Company will be
proposed at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

On behalf of the Board
Chui Kwong Kau
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 21 June 2023
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@ pakertilly
K i [R] PR

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Yuk Wing
Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 63 to 151, which comprise
the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2023,
and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, consolidated statement of changes in equity and consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 March
2023, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate

opinion on these matters.

Key audit matter

BRELEE

FRREEZER
FARFEZEFELSREATHEXHEMS - R
RYUAHRGEWBERENETRA/EENE
e REFEANDTETERBEEVBHTRER
REBRABCDEE MATTEHRFEERS
TERER -

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T2 B TRNMEERREZEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 B E B E

We identified impairment assessment of trade receivables as a
key audit matter due to the significance of trade receivables to
the Group’s consolidated financial position and the
involvement of subjective judgment and management
estimates in evaluating the expected credit losses (‘ECL”) of
the Group’s trade receivables at the end of the reporting
period.

KT E S RYGRIERRE LB AEREZEE - 1A
REZRKFIEYE BEXENGEMBRAEERTE B
RBEEHARTE EXEESRUFENEREEBE (A
MEEBR ST M EHHE RERE G -

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of
trade receivables included:
RITEHE 5 EYGIERBERE T B

° Understanding key controls on how the management
estimates the loss allowance for trade receivables;
s THREEEMGIEZIERUEBERENTIEE

2
or

° Discussing with the management and evaluating the
basis in determining credit loss allowance on trade
receivables as at 31 March 2023, including
assessing the reasonableness of the estimated loss
rates with reference to historical default rates over
the expected life of the debtors based on the ageing
analysis of trade receivable and the forward-looking
information considered by the management of the
Group;

s HEREMNBINLETESIRUFENR_T_=
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Key audit matter

MRELEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T2 B TRNMEERREEZEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

B 5 B E R E

As disclosed in Note 18 to the consolidated financial
statements, as at 31 March 2023, the Group’s net trade
receivables amounting to HK$47,999,000. As disclosed in
notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial statements, the
management estimates the amount of lifetime ECL of trade
receivables individually or collectively. Except for significant
balances or credit-impaired amounts which are assessed for
impairment individually, the remaining trade receivables are
grouped under a collective assessment after considering
internal credit ratings of trade debtors, ageing, repayment
history and/or past due status of respective trade receivables.
Estimated loss rates are based on historical observed default
rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted for
supportable forward-looking information that is reasonable
and supportable available without due costs or effort.

WiFa B HRERMT1I8FEE R E_=F=A=+—
B ES£ENESHEKKIAFIERA7,999,0008 7T ° IN4R
EMBMERMT4RI0MMEE  EREEMKEBHAEZES
EWRIEN 2 BB EEEEEN SR - REARERIEER
BEeBREBMNMBEN G HREFREFARERESHE
BARASEETR - BREC - EREHKEHIEHE 5 EK
FIEB AR - REBTEOE - MHBEEEDRIEBE
REBARAFHANBERAENENERET  UHBATE
PHRERANE NI BRSNS EERBEXHNAELE
FHELFE o

As disclosed in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recognised net additional amount of
HK$4,307,000 of impairment of trade receivables for the year
and the Group’s lifetime ECL on trade receivables as at 31
March 2023 amounted to HK$6,146,000.

WMERE MBHMRMEIOMKE - EEERNFARESENK
IR 4,307,000 THREINREFE - EXENES
EWRIER - E-=F=A=1T—HN2HEHEEEEAR
6,146,000 77T °
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Testing the accuracy of information used by the
management in determining credit loss allowance
including trade receivables ageing analysis as at 31
March 2023, on a sample basis, by comparing
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales
invoices and other supporting documents; and
BIBLLERE 5 REYGRIRRRE 2 AT A A& 5178 B B8
BHEERELAMBAXMG HERERETN -
T_=FZRA=1+—HNGEEERER(BEZD
1) TR E R R E T HEOAH - &

Evaluating the disclosures regarding the impairment
assessment of trade receivables in Note 30 to the
consolidated financial statements with reference to
the requirements of the prevailing accounting
standards.
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information.
The other information comprises the information included in the annual
report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the
other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our
responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider
whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either
intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’'s
report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a body, in accordance
with our agreed terms of engagement, and for no other purpose. We do
not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions
of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in
order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on
the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going
concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or
conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained
up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going
concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business activities within the Group to
express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence,
and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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From the matters commmunicated with those charged with governance,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of
the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the
adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong, 21 June 2023

Chan Kwan Ho, Edmond
Practising certificate number P02092
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

bm AIRETY
an\ H fm

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HEZ - - =

H b2 m

1%

FZA=1t—HIFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-_F
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B &E FET FET
Revenue & 5 157,048 141,748
Cost of sales SHE AR (113,630) (102,147)
Gross profit EH 43,418 39,601
Other income E A 6 4,253 1,724
Impairment losses under expected FEHEESEEEAETARE
credit loss model, net B8 558 7 (4,307) (762)
Other gains and losses HAbUam REE 7 450 2,439
Selling and distribution expenses HE R HEMAX (9,523) (7,447)
Administrative expenses THRAX (39,772) (35,797)
Finance costs BhE A AR 8 (1,035) (873)
Loss before tax MREBLATE R 9 (6,516) (1,115)
Taxation credit (charge) HiEEe (i) 10 2,940 (360)
Loss for the year FREE (3,576) (1,475)
Other comprehensive (expense) FERHEMAEZEBIX) WE
income for the year
Item that may be reclassified subsequently Hi& A[gEE ¥ 218z a)EE -
to profit or loss:
Exchange differences arising on translation & /84N 5/ pTEE £ FIIE 3 = 58
of foreign operations (4,860) 1,794
Total comprehensive (expense) income FALEAE(F ) WS
for the year (8,436) 319
Loss for the year attributable to: R ATEEFERESE :
Owners of the Company ViN/NEIEZ =N (3,504) (454)
Non-controlling interests Elad -2 (72) (1,021)
(3,576) (1,475)
Total comprehensive (expense) DTATEGFAZEA (BIX)
income for the year attributable to: Wz
Owners of the Company ViN/NETEZ YN (6,617) 461
Non-controlling interests e (1,819) (142)
(8,436) 319
Loss per share, basic (HK cents) BRERERE GBI 13 (0.92) 0.12)
BREEZERERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AR BB R

At 31 March 2023 R—ZE=-_=%=HA=+—H

2023 2022
—E_= —EF-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T F&ET FHETT
Non-current assets FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment ME - R M RE 14 5,296 6,711
Right-of-use assets FREAE 15 10,254 11,587
Deposits placed at an insurance company 1FiMREBE A B2 1538 16 - 4,788
Deferred tax assets BRI IEE E 25 2,416 2,416
17,966 25,502
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 17 56,471 55,740
Trade and other receivables B 5 K EH M E R FIE 18 67,067 59,971
Financial assets at fair value through FEREREAFEARZEREE
profit or loss 19 23,349 25,034
Tax recoverable EEE 283 1,900
Bank balances and cash RITEBR MRS 20 65,969 64,649
213,139 207,294
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables 2 5 REMERFRIE 21 9,263 8,953
Contract liabilities GHBE 22 3,897 487
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 2,499 2,001
Tax payable JESITIA 72 4,009
Bank and other borrowings RITREMES 23 28,210 20,000
43,941 35,450
Net current assets RBEEFE 169,198 171,844
Total assets less current liabilities BEERRBERE 187,164 197,346

64 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AR MR R

At 31 March 2023 R—ZE=-_=F=H=+—H

2023 2022
—E_= —EF-=
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
B 5T F&T FET
Non-current liabilities ERBERS
Deferred tax liabilities BEEFRIBEEE 25 102 126
Lease liabilities HEBE 24 9,193 10,915
9,295 11,041
Net assets EEBE 177,869 186,305
Capital and reserves B S
Share capital A& 2R 26 38,000 38,000
Reserves B 104,713 111,330
Equity attributable to owners RATHEE AEEER
of the Company 142,713 149,330
Non-controlling interests FEIE Hil R 35,156 36,975
Total equity BRER 177,869 186,305

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 151 were approved % 63 :ZE 151ENGRAETEREREREEZSR
and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 21 June 2023 and —ZTE-=%F,xA= ‘1’ BiEREERE - I

are signed on its behalf by: AT EERERES
Chui Kwong Kau Li Kai Lai, Miranda
BERIR TEB
Director Director
EF EF

BREBRZERERAT
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

/\\7_]_\

For the year ended 31 March 2023 HE —-Z—

AREEEBE

=FEZA=T-HLEFE

Attributable to owners of the Company

NG PN
Non-
Share Share ~ Merger Statutory Exchange Other  Retained controlling
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  reserve  reserve profits  Sub-total interests Total
Rx  RORE OBRE iERE EXRE  BERE  RERR Nt FERER @it
HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK$000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000
Tt TET  TET  TEr  TET  TEr  TEr  TET  TET  TEx
(note ) (note i (note i
(Wt (i) (MzEii)
At1 April 2021 R-B--%
MA-H 38000 124553 (67,09) 1,806 1,013 19 50676 148869 T 185,986
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (454 (s8)  (1021)  (1479)
Exchange differences arsngon &GN ERErES
franglation of foreign operations ~ #)EH =€ - - - - 915 - - 915 879 179
Total comprenensiveincome~ EREEENE
for the year - - - - 915 - (454) 461 (142) 319
Transfer b - - - 389 - - (389) - - -
At 31 March 2022 R-B--E&
=fA=1-H 38000 124553 (67,096) 2,194 1,928 19 49732 149,330 36,975 186,30
Loss for the year EREE - - - - - - (3504 (3504 1) (3576
Exchange differences arisngon #4551 EFE
translation of foreign operations ~ MEREE - - - - (3113 - - (3113 (1,747) (4,860)
Total comprehensive expense ~ ERZELER
for the year - - - - 3,113 - (3,504) (6,617) (1819 (8,436)
Transfer 25 - - - 657 - - 657) - - -
At 31 March 2023 ik Jat:
ZA=t-H 38000 124553 (67,096) 2,851 (1,185) 19 45,571 142,713 35,16 177,869
Notei:  Amount represents difference between the nominal value of the share  Ffiiti: ZRIEIEA DR Y 2 EW B A 4R LIEIRE

Note ii:

Note iii:

66

capital issued by Hang Wing Holdings Limited (“Hang Wing”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Company, for the acquisition of the entire equity
interests and the amount of share capital in Top Mark Mechanical
Equipment Limited (“Top Mark”), Tristate International Industrial Limited
(“Tristate International”), Top Glory Construction Equipment Limited
and MAXA RockDrills Limited.

EI*FL

Amount represents statutory reserve of # LI 71 JIB{E @& 3 F)3E T2 %4
BB 7] (Norry Tech Engineering Equipment Limited) (“Norry Tech”), a
subsidiary of the Company. According to the relevant laws in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), Norry Tech is required to
transfer at least 10% of their net profit after taxation, as determined
under the PRC accounting regulations, to a non-distributable reserve
fund until the reserve balance reaches 50% of its registered capital. The
transfer to this reserve must be made before the distribution of a
dividend to owners. Such reserve fund can be used to offset the
previous years’ losses, if any, and is non-distributable other than upon
liquidation.

Amount arising from acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries in
2017.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
CEEeRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2-—Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Operating activities KREEH
Loss before tax BRERIEIR (6,516) (1,119)
Adjustments for: AT EIERE :
Impairment losses under expected TEAEEBEENRIB NHRERE
credit loss model, net FEE 4,307 762
Reversal of write down of inventories T E MR (360) (447)
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment  #1% - HiE R HEITE 2,010 2,037
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREESEITE 2,177 2,107
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME - BERRERZE
equipment (22) (35)
Loss (gain) on fair value changes of financial FRBEEATEARZSREEN
assets at fair value through profit or loss NHEEBBE (=) 1,685 (1,647)
Interest expense M EFHX 1,035 873
Surrender charge on insurance policy RERREH 523 -
Interest income FEMA (298) (17
Dividend income AR B U (1,054) (165)
Operating cash flows before movements HEESEBHILERERE
in working capital 3,487 2,205
(Increase) decrease in inventories F5GEm) R (371) 9,713
Increase in trade and other receivables E 5 M EH AU GRIEE 1N (11,403) (4,630)
Increase (decrease) in trade and other payables & 5 N H fib fEF ZRIE G N GRiA) 479 (5,136)
Increase (decrease) in contract liabilities ASHBREEMNCELD) 3,410 (1,403)
Cash (used in) generated from operations &% (FiA) i3 R & (4,398) 749
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid BB EREH (924) (56)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded BREIE BTG 1,569 1,281
Net cash (used in) from operating activities &% 58 (FifA) FIEREFE (3,753) 1,974
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FERESRER

For the year ended 31 March 2023 #Z2-—Z - =F=A=+—HItFE

2023 2022
—E-=F —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH&TT
Investing activities RESEE
Withdrawal of deposits placed at an insurance  I2EUFARE A Tl 8I1F 5K
company 4,325 -
Dividend received from financial assets EEBERERATEARZEREE
at fair value through profit or loss W B AT IS B, 1,054 165
Interest received BUHE 238 78
Proceeds from disposal of property, LEWE - BERRBITEHIE
plant and equipment 68 50
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEME - BEME&E (1,007) (579)
Purchase of financial assets of fair value BEAABRIEATEARZEREE
through profit or loss = (23,387)
Net cash from (used in) investing activities R&EFE S (FTH) REFHE 4,678 (23,673)
Financing activities 7l 5 B
Repayment of lease liabilities EBEHEARE (2,068) (1,808)
Repayment of other borrowing BEAMES (5,000) -
New bank loans raised FrE S iRITER 13,210 -
Interest on lease liabilities HEBGEFE (494) (566)
Interest paid ERHE (710) (307)
Net cash from (used in) financing activities BI&EE S () REFHE 4,938 (2,681)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and ReRESEEYEMORD) B8
cash equivalents 5,863 (24,380)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FUREMIRNEEEY
of the year 64,649 87,437
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes fEEFBa B (4,543) 1,592
Cash and cash equivalents at end of FERRERESEEY -
the year, represented by bank balances BRTEREES
and cash 65,969 64,649
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
AR

B B R M et

GENERAL INFORMATION

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated and registered as an exempted company with limited
liability in the Cayman Islands under the Companies Law Chapter
22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman
Islands. The shares of the Company are listed on The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The registered office address of the Company is located at Cricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111,
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the Company is
located at Unit B, 13/F, Eton Building, 288 Des Voeux Road
Central, Hong Kong. The directors of the Company consider that
the Company’s immediate and ultimate holding company is Colour
Shine Investments Limited, a private limited company incorporated
in the British Virgin Islands (the “BVI”).

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are
principally engaged in the manufacturing and trading of down-the-
hole (“DTH”) rockdrilling tools and trading of piling and drilling
machineries and rockdrilling equipment.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
Dollars (“HK$") which is also the functional currency of the
Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A7

B M ERERM T

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

Amendments to HKFRSs that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

In the current year, the Group has applied the following
amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the first time, which
are mandatorily effective for the annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2022 for the preparation of the consolidated financial
statements:
Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual
Framework
Property, Plant and Equipment —
Proceeds before Intended Use

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract
Annual Improvements to

HKFRSs 2018-2020

Amendments to HKFRSs

The application of the amendments to HKFRSs in the current year
has had no material impact on the Group’s financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M ERR M

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following new and
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet
effective:

HKFRS 17 (including the October Insurance Contracts’
2020 and February 2022
Amendments to HKFRS 17)

Amendments to HKFRS 10
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets between
an Investor and its Associate or
Joint Venture?

ERERVBHREERMN(E
M BREER DISRT A @)

EEMESRERZHITEEYHK
|EERET A

AREEY EITREM T 52 EMIE R K
R HE B R B MEENREFTA :

BERMBHREEN  RBRAA

Amendments to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback®
Non-current Liabilities with Covenants®

Classification of Liabilities as Current
or Non-current and related
amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)°

Disclosure of Accounting Policies!

Definition of Accounting Estimates!

Deferred Tax related to Assets and
Liabilities arising from a Single

Transaction’

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be
determined.
8 Effective for annual periods beginning on or 1 January 2024.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below, the
directors of the Company anticipate that the application of all other
new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on
the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
ARE MR A

2  APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG 2 FEREAMBHREEAN(E

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) EEEREAER VISET A& &)

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 “Classification of Liabilities as Gurrent or ERETEAFE1FE(ETR)[HBE

Non-current and related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation EoEARBRIIERHURETER

5 (2020)” BESH(ZF-2F) 2 HE BT ]

The amendments provide clarification and additional guidance on REET AR HIEEEA N EESREH

the assessment of right to defer settlement for at least twelve Mzt + —EA AN EFREEEE R

months from reporting date for classification of liabilities as current ZINES| c LS BB BEAREHIER

or non-current, which: &) Hr:

o specify that the classification of liabilities as current or non- o HFABEsBARDNIERBEER
current should be based on rights that are in existence at the RREHRTFAERER - B2
end of the reporting period. Specifically, the amendments to = ZEBIIART
clarify that:

()  the classification should not be affected by () PETEXTEENTZ=E
management intentions or expectations to settle the AR&SEERE R TEH
liabilities within 12 months; and g Rk

(i) if the right is conditional on the compliance with (i) MERMIABTREBIEE
covenants, the right exists if the conditions are met at BI{EE SR AR IZ B B 8
the end of the reporting period, even if the lender does SEBSFIEN  WERSH K
not test compliance until a later date; and R RIRRE R AL

&

e clarify that if a liability has terms that could, at the option of o  EBEMABMIEREETRYEFH
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the transfer of the BEEREFAEEERAGNESTA
entity’s own equity instruments, these terms do not affect its HEITEN AIERNERBERSED
classification as current or non-current only if the entity SHEREINRE [T HE: 275
recognises the option separately as an equity instrument BiRiE R EIBIERAERTANS
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments: Presentation”. M ZEETRFTeEEE S

R HIENB

In addition, Hong Kong Interpretation 5 was revised as a WoN BEEAREBESHERES S@THE
consequence of the Amendments to HKSA 1 to align the B 1% (BT AR) MIEL B2« LA
corresponding workings with no change in conclusion. JEREE —EU BEmITE -

Based on the Group’s outstanding liabilities as at 31 March 2023, BEAEER -_ZT-_=F=A=+—H
the application of the amendments will not result in reclassification MAEZAEEN  ERAZEEBIIAG
of the Group’s liabilities. “GENAEENBEENSHE -

72 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AR e BRI R

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG
FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2
“Disclosure of Accounting Policies”

HKAS 1 is amended to replace all instances of the term “significant
accounting policies” with “material accounting policy information”.
Accounting policy information is material if, when considered
together with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial statements
make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments also clarify that accounting policy information
may be material because of the nature of the related transactions,
other events or conditions, even if the amounts are immaterial.
However, not all accounting policy information relating to material
transactions, other events or conditions is itself material. If an entity
chooses to disclose immaterial accounting policy information, such
information must not obscure material accounting policy
information.

HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making Materiality Judgements (the
“Practice Statement”) is also amended to illustrate how an entity
applies the “four-step materiality process” to accounting policy
disclosures and to judge whether information about an accounting
policy is material to its financial statements. Guidance and
examples are added to the Practice Statement.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the financial position or performance of the
Group but may affect the disclosures of the Group’s significant
accounting policies. The impacts of application, if any, will be
disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M ERR M

74

APPLICATION OF AMENDMENTS TO HONG KONG

FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 8 “Definition of Accounting Estimates”

The amendments define accounting estimates as “monetary
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement
uncertainty”. An accounting policy may require items in financial
statements to be measured in a way that involves measurement
uncertainty — that is, the accounting policy may require such items
to be measured at monetary amounts that cannot be observed
directly and must instead be estimated. In such a case, an entity
develops an accounting estimate to achieve the objective set out
by the accounting policy. Developing accounting estimates involves
the use of judgements or assumptions based on the latest
available, reliable information.

In addition, the concept of changes in accounting estimates in
HKAS 8 is retained with additional clarifications.

The application of the amendments is not expected to have
significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e BRI R

3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. For the
purpose of preparation of the consolidated financial
statements, information is considered material if such
information is reasonably expected to influence decisions
made by primary users. In addition, the consolidated financial
statements include applicable disclosures required by the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock
Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial
instruments that are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an
asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these
consolidated financial statements is determined on such a
basis, except for share-based payment transactions that are
within the scope of HKFRS 2 “Share-based Payment”,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 “Leases” (“HKFRS 16”), and measurements
that have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value,
such as net realisable value in HKAS 2 “Inventories” or value
in use in HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sre SRR M AT

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

/6

3.1

Basis of preparation of consolidated financial statements
(Continued)

For financial instruments which are transacted at fair value
and a valuation technique that unobservable inputs are to be
used to measure fair value in subsequent periods, and
valuation technique is calibrated so that at initial recognition
the results of the valuation technique equals the transaction
price.

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

° Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

° Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

° Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 SZEPBEBRRNWEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Ep NS 3¢ )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies 32 EARGHBE

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

o has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee
if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3

/8

HRAEMBBRRNEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BARETEHER#)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group’s equity therein, which represent
present ownership interests entitling their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets of the relevant subsidiaries
upon liquidation.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a performance
obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control” of the goods or
services underlying the particular performance obligation is
transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service (or a
bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a series of
distinct goods or services that are substantially the same.

Control is transferred over time and revenue is recognised
over time by reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the relevant performance obligation if one of
the following criteria is met:

° the customer simultaneously receives and consumes
the benefits provided by the Group’s performance as
the Group performs;

° the Group’s performance creates or enhances an asset
that the customer controls as the Group performs; or

° the Group’s performance does not create an asset with
an alternative use to the Group and the Group has an
enforceable right to payment for performance
completed to date.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3 SZEPBEBRRNWEREER
BERETHE®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued) JREEFEIMIN = ()
Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time when the DA WHENBEPEERE ;”;IJ?ﬁ hak

customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer goods or services to a customer for which the Group
has received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.

Rendering of services

Service income of piling and drilling machineries and
equipment is recognised over time by reference to the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the relevant
performance obligation, as the customer simultaneously
receives and consumes the benefits provided by the Group’s
performance as the Group performs. The Group bills a fixed
amount for each month of service provided. The Group
elected to apply the practical expedient by recognising
revenue in the amount to which the Group has right to
invoice. As permitted under HKFRS 15 “Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” (“HKFRS 15”), the transaction
price allocated to these unsatisfied contracts is not disclosed.
The service income is not derived from the Group’s ordinary
course of business and is presented as other income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after the date of
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is or
contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at
inception, modification date or acquisition date, as
appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed unless the
terms and conditions of the contract are subsequently
changed.

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a
contract

For a contract that contains a lease component and one or
more additional lease or non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone price of
the lease component and the aggregate stand-alone price of
the non-lease components.

Non-lease components are separated from lease component
and are accounted for by applying other applicable
standards.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less from
the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases are recognised
as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2

Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Right-of-use assets

The cost of right-of-use asset includes:

° the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability;

° any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

° any initial direct costs incurred by the Group; and

° an estimate of costs to be incurred by the Group in
dismantling and removing the underlying assets,
restoring the site on which it is located or restoring the
underlying asset to the condition required by the terms
and conditions of the lease.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of its estimated useful life and the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate line
item on the consolidated statement of financial position.

Refundable rental deposits

Refundable rental deposits paid are accounted under HKFRS
9 “Financial Instruments” (‘HKFRS 9”) and initially measured
at fair value. Adjustments to fair value at initial recognition are
considered as additional lease payments and included in the
cost of right-of-use assets.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of a lease, the Group recognises
and measures the lease liability at the present value of lease
payments that are unpaid at that date. In calculating the
present value of lease payments, the Group uses the
incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
if the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily
determinable.

The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-
substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable.

After the commencement date, lease liabilities are adjusted
by interest accretion and lease payments.

The Group presents lease liabilities as a separate line item on
the consolidated statement of financial position.

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a separate
lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease by
adding the right to use one or more underlying assets;
and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an amount
commensurate with the stand-alone price for the
increase in scope and any appropriate adjustments to
that stand-alone price to reflect the circumstances of
the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability, less
any lease incentives receivable, based on the lease term of
the modified lease by discounting the revised lease payments
using a revised discount rate at the effective date of the
modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease liabilities
by making corresponding adjustments to the relevant right-
of-use asset.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

GEMBBRVEREER
BERETHE®)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)
Leases (Continued) HE (&)
The Group as a lessee (Continued) REBEERAMBA (B)

Changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform
For changes in the basis for determining the future lease
payments as a result of interest rate benchmark reform, the
Group applies the practical expedient to remeasure the lease
liabilities by discounting the revised lease payments using the
unchanged discount rate and makes a corresponding
adjustment to the related right-of-use assets. A lease
modification is required by interest rate benchmark reform if,
and only if, both of these conditions are met:

° The modification is necessary as a direct consequence
of interest rate benchmark reform; and

° The new basis for determining the lease payments is
economically equivalent to the previous basis (i.e. the
basis immediately preceding the modification).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets that are
held for use in the production or supply of goods or services,
or for administrative purposes. Property, plant and equipment
are stated in the consolidated statement of financial position
at cost less subsequent accumulated depreciation and
subsequent accumulated impairment losses, if any.

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of
assets over their estimated useful lives less their residual
values, using the straight-line method. The estimated useful
lives, residual values and depreciation method are reviewed
at the end of each reporting period, with the effect of any
changes in estimate accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any
gain or loss arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of
property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
asset and is recognised in profit or loss.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

34

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets to determine whether there is any
indication that these assets have suffered an impairment loss.
If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the
relevant asset is estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss (if any).

The recoverable amounts of property, plant and equipment
and right-of-use assets are estimated individually. When it is
not possible to estimate the recoverable amount individually,
the Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, corporates
assets are allocated to the relevant cash-generating unit
when a reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be
established, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest
group of cash-generating units for which a reasonable and
consistent allocation basis can be established. The
recoverable amount is determined for the cash-generating
unit or group of cash-generating units to which the corporate
asset belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount of
the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-generating
units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs of
disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the
estimates of future cash flows have not been adjusted.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 3.2

GEMBBRVEREER
BERETHE®)

EXRSTEEE)

Impairment on property, plant and equipment and right-
of-use assets (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating
unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the
carrying amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is
reduced to its recoverable amount. For corporate assets or
portion of corporate assets which cannot be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis to a cash-generating unit,
the Group compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of the
corporate assets or portion of corporate assets allocated to
that group of cash-generating units, with the recoverable
amount of the group of cash-generating units. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated first to
reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if applicable) and
then to the other assets on a pro-rata basis based on the
carrying amount of each asset in the unit or the group of
cash-generating units. The carrying amount of an asset is not
reduced below the highest of its fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable), its value in use (if determinable) and
zero. The amount of the impairment loss that would otherwise
have been allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the
other assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the
carrying amount of the asset (or cash-generating unit or a
group of cash-generating units) is increased to the revised
estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased
carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that
would have been determined had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit or a group
of cash-generating units) in prior years. A reversal of an
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents presented on the consolidated
statement of financial position include:

(@ cash, which comprises of cash on hand and bank
balances, excluding bank balances that are subject to
regulatory restrictions that result in such balances no
longer meeting the definition of cash; and

(b) cash equivalents, which comprises of short-term
(generally with original maturity of three months or less),
highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to a
known amount of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value. Cash equivalents
are held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments rather than for investment or other
pUrposes.

For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and cash
equivalents as defined above, net of outstanding bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management. Such
overdrafts are presented as short-term borrowings in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Costs of inventories are determined on a first-in, first-
out method. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price for inventories less all estimated costs of
completion and costs necessary to make the sale. Cost
necessary to make the sale include incremental costs directly
attributable to the sale and non-incremental costs which the
Group must incur to make the sale.

Deposits placed at an insurance company

Deposits placed at an insurance company is stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost adjusted
for interest income and service charges, less impairment
losses, if any.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 SZEPBEBRRNWEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Ep NS 3¢ )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)
Financial instruments E\EEI A
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when a BEBEEKATIEANIKENZE]T
group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions of X7 AFERcmEENRTRA

the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of financial
assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade date
basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or sales
of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the
time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured at
fair value except for trade receivables arising from contracts
with customers which are initially measured in accordance
with HKFRS 15. Transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and
financial liabilities (other than financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss (“FVTPL”)) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial assets or
financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised immediately in
profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the
amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability and of
allocating interest income and interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that
exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Interest income is recognised on an effective interest basis for
financial assets and are presented as other income.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash flows;
and

° the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL, except that at the date of initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment in
other comprehensive income if that equity investment is
neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 “Business Combinations” applies.

A financial asset is held for trading if:

° it has been acquired principally for the purpose of
selling in the near term; or

° on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of identified
financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-
taking; or

° it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of
financial assets (Continued)

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for financial assets measured subsequently at
amortised cost. For financial instruments other than
purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets,
interest income is calculated by applying the effective
interest rate to the gross carrying amount of a financial
asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired (see below). For
financial assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of the
financial asset from the next reporting period. If the
credit risk on the credit-impaired financial instrument
improves so that the financial asset is no longer credit-
impaired, interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of
the financial asset from the beginning of the reporting
period following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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B M ERERM T

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of

financial assets (Continued)
(i)  Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or designated as FVTOCI

are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value at
the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any
dividend or interest earned on the financial asset and is
included in the “other gains and losses” line item.

Dividends from these assets are recognised in profit or
loss when the Group’s right to receive the dividends is
established, and are included in the “other income” line

item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)

3 SZEPBEBRRNWEREER
BERETHE®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group performs impairment assessment under expected
credit loss (“‘ECL”) model on financial assets including trade
receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank balances
which are subject to impairment assessment under HKFRS 9.
The amount of ECL is updated at each reporting date to
reflect changes in credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL (“12m ECL”)
represents the portion of lifetime ECL that is expected to
result from default events that are possible within 12 months
after the reporting date. Assessments are done based on the
Group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at the
reporting date as well as the forecast of future conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the loss
allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in
which case the Group recognises lifetime ECL. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECL should be recognised is
based on significant increases in the likelihood or risk of a
default occurring since initial recognition.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(i) Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a
default occurring on the financial instrument as at the
date of initial recognition. In making this assessment,
the Group considers both quantitative and qualitative
information that is reasonable and supportable,
including historical experience and forward-looking
information that is available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has

increased significantly:

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or

internal credit rating;

° significant deterioration in external market
indicators of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase
in the credit spread, the credit default swap prices

for the debtor;

° existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant decrease in the
debtor’s ability to meet its debt obligations;

° an actual or expected significant deterioration in

the operating results of the debtor;

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23

3

AR

EUBBRNEREER

BERETHE®)

3.2

EXRSTEEE)
ERTAE)
TREE (&)
ERMEENRE(E)

M

= B N
R EBVEERAREER
MR LA INE  AEEH
BRBEEANeMITAEA:
ZE AR R BV 8 R B H
T EBEAE ENRKRE
TLLER o TEETT R (A
rEEgEREAEREREE
TENTEMTHEER 8
ER L &R M BAELEE DY
DR EL LS BN A] 15 B9 AT
PEMER -

BRIR  ENGEEEARL
TREHEME - REELT
@

o  TRTAMIMNE(IE)
A EEFRNER
gFEMBER

o HNETIGEERKRIEE
MEERL B
ZRIEEM - EHEAL
SEENIRHER

e TEAEBHEKAER
(EELE PPN RN G ES
% MBSEERR
3B kTR R R 2
1t :

o FEBAKEEEMNER
gFEMBER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e BRI R

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

M

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

° an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk at the
reporting date. A debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk if () it has a low risk of default, (i) the
borrower has a strong capacity to meet its contractual
cash flow obligations in the near term and (iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions in the
longer term may, but will not necessarily, reduce the
ability of the borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow
obligations. The Group considers a debt instrument to
have low credit risk when it has an internal or external
credit rating of ‘investment grade’ as per globally
understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of the
criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

94

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(i)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when information
developed internally or obtained from external sources
indicates that the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors,
including the Group, in full (without taking into account
any collaterals held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers that
default has occurred when a financial asset is more
than 90 days past due unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that financial asset have occurred.
Evidence that a financial asset is credit impaired
includes observable data about the following events:

(@  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the
borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past
due event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower
a concession(s) that the lender(s) would not
otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will
enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

sre SRR M AT

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset, when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings. Financial assets written off may still be
subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s
recovery procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. A write-off constitutes a
derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries are
recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects an
unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that
the Group expects to receive, discounted at the
effective interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL for certain trade receivables are
considered on a collective basis taking into
consideration past due information and relevant credit
information such as forward looking macroeconomic
information.
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3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
(v)  Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)

For collective assessment, the Group takes into
consideration the following characteristics when
formulating the grouping:

o Past-due status;

o Nature, size and industry of debtors; and
° External credit ratings where available.

The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to
share similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case interest
income is calculated based on amortised cost of the
financial asset.

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in
profit or loss for all financial instruments by adjusting
their carrying amount, with the exception of trade
receivables, where the corresponding adjustment is
recognised through a loss allowance account.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)

GEMBBRVEREER
BERETHE®)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when the
contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset expire, or
when it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the
risks and rewards of ownership of the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and
the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities including trade and other payables and
bank and other borrowings are subsequently measured at
amortised cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and only
when, the Group’s obligations are discharged, cancelled or
have expired. The difference between the carrying amount of
the financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid
and payable is recognised in profit or loss.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs, other than those directly attributable to
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying
assets, if any, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they are incurred.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with the
conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be
received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which the
grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of
giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future
related costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they become receivable. Such grants are presented
under “other income”.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF
Scheme”) and state-managed retirement benefit schemes
are recognised as an expense when employees have
rendered service entitling them to the contributions.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 HRENBEBRRAGEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT BEASHBE®
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)

Short-term and other long-term employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave)
after deducting any amount already paid.

Liabilities recognised in respect of other long-term employee
benefits are measured at the present value of estimated
future cash outflows expected to be made by the Group in
respect of services provided by employees up to the reporting
date. Any changes in the liabilities’ carrying amounts resulting
from service cost, interest and remeasurements are
recognised in profit or loss except to the extent that another
HKFRS requires or permits their inclusion in the cost of an
asset.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at
the rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the
transactions. At the end of the reporting period, monetary
items denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing at that date. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise.
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3  BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED

10

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the Group’s
operations are translated into the presentation currency of the
Group (i.e. HK$) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
each reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period,
unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during that
period, in which case, the exchange rates at the date of
transactions are used. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity under the heading of exchange reserve
(attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

Taxation

Taxation credit (charge) represents the sum of the tax
currently payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
year. Taxable profit differs from profit/loss before tax because
of income or expenses that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in a
transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

3 BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3 SZEPBEBRRNWEREER
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT Ep NS 3¢ )
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued) 32 EAREIHBE#E)
Taxation (Continued) FHIE ()
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary MIENEFE NI EBEREEN
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries, o M EREEREA N TE R R KO RE
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the Refo  BAEEHEAaESR

temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable
profits against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax
rates that are expected to apply in the period in which the
liability is settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate
(and tax laws) that have been enacted or substantively
enacted by the end of the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in
which the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period,
to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and
liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-of-use
assets and the related lease liabilities, the Group first
determines whether the tax deductions are attributable to the
right-of-use assets or the lease liabilities.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR e B R R

3

10

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
3.2 Significant accounting policies (Continued)
Taxation (Continued)
For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions are
attributable to the lease liabilities, the Group applies HKAS 12
“Income Taxes” requirements to the leasing transaction as a
whole. Temporary differences relating to right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities are assessed on a net basis. Excess of
depreciation on right-of-use assets over the lease payments
for the principal portion of lease liabilities resulting in net
deductible temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a
legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets against
current tax liabilities and when they relate to income taxes
levied to the same taxation entity by the same taxable
authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in Note 3, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgments, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from
other sources. The estimates and underlying assumptions are
based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in
the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only
that period, or in the period of the revision and the future periods if
the revision affects both current and future periods.

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future, and
other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the
next financial year.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)
Impairment assessment of trade receivables

The Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables individually or
collectively. Except for significant balances or credit-impaired
amounts which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under a collective
assessment after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. The
information about the ECL and the Group’s trade receivables are
disclosed in Note 30 and Note 18 respectively.

As at 31 March 2023, the carrying amount of trade receivables is
HK$47,999,000 (2022: HK$39,596,000), net of impairment loss of
HK$6,146,000 (2022: HK$3,237,000).

Estimated write down of inventories

The management assesses whether the inventories are stated at
the lower of cost and net realisable values and estimates the
allowance for inventories based on their industry knowledge and
experience at the end of the reporting period. The management
estimates the amount of allowance for inventories based on the
lower of cost and their estimated net realisable value. In determining
the net realisable values of the Group’s inventories, the
management considers the current market conditions, material
price fluctuation and subsequent usage or sales. When the actual
net realisable values are lower than expectation, such difference will
impact the carrying amounts of inventories. During the year ended
31 March 2023, the Group recognises a reversal of write down of
inventories of HK$360,000 (2022: a reversal of write down of
inventories of HK$441,000). As at 31 March 2023, the carrying
amount of inventories is HK$56,471,000 (2022: HK$55,740,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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AR B ERER I aE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Revenue

The Group is principally engaged in (i) manufacturing and trading of
DTH rockdrilling tools; (i) trading of piling and drilling machineries;
and (jii) trading of rockdrilling equipment.

Disaggregation of revenue
An analysis of the Group’s revenue is as follows:

Wz ) 2 #B & #

g
AEEIERFOREREEEARS
TE:HEBETHERNER: LHESH

Wz B AT
AREBWSAHDMLT -

2023 2022
—E-=F —_F-—
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH&T
Recognised at a point in time: PR —E R

Manufacturing and trading of DTH RENEEBHBETA
rockdrilling tools 146,569 116,345
Trading of piling and drilling machineries BEITIEE N B - 10,032
Trading of rockdriling equipment BERAHMH 10,479 15,371
157,048 141,748

Disaggregation of revenue by geographical location is disclosed in
geographical information below.

Performance obligations for contracts with customers

All of the Group’s revenue is recognised when the control of goods
is transferred, being when the goods are delivered to the
customer’s specific location. A receivable is recognised by the
Group when the goods are delivered to the customer’s premises
as this represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of time
is required before payment is due. The normal credit term is O to 90
days upon delivery. The customers have neither rights of return nor
rights to defer or avoid payment for the goods once they are
accepted by the customers upon receipt of goods. The contracts
signed with the customers are short-term and fixed price contracts.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continueq)
Revenue (Continued)

Transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligation for contracts with customers

The transaction price allocated to the remaining performance
obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at 31 March 2023
and 2022 and the expected timing of recognising revenue are as
follows:

W= R D EBER =

Wk ()
SHEFEEFZFMEAS TEAR
FZXR 518
MRoE-=ZFR T —F=ZA=+—
BREZEH TEAOEME(REXKDBOF
B ) 2 X518 MRS ) T8 HAES R 40
T

2023 2022
—E_=F —E-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Within one year —FR 64,092 45,289

Segment information

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker (the “CODM?”), for the
purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment
performance focuses on the types of products sold.

The details of the Group’s operating segments are as follows:

(i) Manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools

(i)  Trading of piling and drilling machineries

(i) ~ Trading of rockdrilling equipment

These operating segments also represent the Group’s reportable
segments. No operating segments identified by the CODM have

been aggregated in arriving at the reportable segments of the
Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WHEKRDIBER )

Segment information (Continued) TEER (&)
Segment revenue and results e s e AR
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by LA THEHINAEBRIRKELE R 2R 3PE
operating and reportable segments: DI S R EEE DT ¢
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_E-_=F=A=1+—HLEE
Manufacturing
and trading Trading of
of DTH piling and Trading of
rockdrilling drilling rockdrilling
tools machineries equipment Total
HEREE BEETHER EE
BABRETE RE# BERH @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET TET
Segment and external sales DERINRIHE 146,569 - 10,479 157,048
Segment result DEEE 41,220 - 2,198 43,418
Unallocated expenses AR (49,295)
Other income HAlg A 4,253
Impairment losses under ECL BHEEEEEAETH
model, net REBEFE (4,307)
Other gains and losses HiphE REE 450
Finance costs BEKAE (1,035)
Loss before tax BREAIER (6,516)
1 O Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5 WHEKRDIBER )

Segment information (Continued) DEWER ()
Segment revenue and results (Continued) D EBU S N AR (4 )
For the year ended 31 March 2022 HE-_ZT-—_F=ZA=1+—HIFE
Manufacturing
and trading Trading of
of DTH piling and Trading of
rockdrilling drilling rockdrilling
tools machineries equipment Total
HERER BEEITHR BE
BHBRETH REH BLGB @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment and external sales AERINFRIEE 116,345 10,032 15,371 141,748
Segment result DEEE 35,070 1,482 3,049 39,601
Unallocated expenses ROTFX (43,244)
Other income Elg A 1,724
Impairment losses under ECL BHEEBRENETN
model, net REBEFE (762)
Other gains and losses HiphE R EE 2,439
Finance costs BER A (873)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (1,119)
The accounting policies of the operating segments are the same as S I @t R AN EIpT I A E
the Group’s accounting policies described in Note 3. Segment et HEMER - 9EEEFRDIEA
result represents the profit earned by each segment without SERHY (BFEEE LD EE X MMITEH
allocation of unallocated expenses (including selling and distribution ) Eflg A - FEEAZEEEESXIET
expenses and administrative expenses), other income, impairment HREEEFEE - iz R EE M
losses under ECL model, net, other gains and losses and finance BRARE DR EF - ZrE2 AR
costs. This is the measure reported to the CODM of the Group for SEFAEFRTFTBLKEREEUEER
the purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment. Sl R R -
Segment assets and liabilities DESEENEE
No analysis of segment assets or segment liabilities is presented as AR ETHRAAER FEREREE
they are not regularly provided to the CODM of the Group. RBHEASEESHDILEESHT - HILI

B2 -
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REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5 WEEkDBER @)
Segment information (Continued) TEER (&)
Other segment information B A
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_SE-_=f=A=+—HLEE
Manufacturing
and trading Trading of
of DTH piling and Trading of
rockdrilling drilling rockdrilling
tools machineries equipment Total
SEREE BETHER BE
BLBEIR REH BERB Bzt
HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$'000
Tz Tz Tz THRT
Amounts regularly provided tothe  FHIRIZ BELREKE kf/\
CODM but not included in the BIARFTENHESR
measurement of segment result: A
Depreciation of property, mE  BERXERE
plant and equipment 667 - - 667
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FHEEETE 1,475 - - 1,475
Reversal of write down of inventories 77 & i3 =l (360) - - (360)
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE TS -_—_F=A=1+—HILtFE
Manufacturing
and trading Trading of
of DTH piling and Trading of
rockdriling drilling rockdriling
tools machineries equipment Total
HEREE BETER BE
BHBEETA R BESRH st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER THER THER
Amounts regularly provided to the SR EIfAI = BE 4R % E 124t
CODM but not included in the ERARESBLEN
measurement of segment result: R
Depreciation of property, WE - BELRETE
plant and equipment 778 - - 778
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ~ FREEETE 1,475 - - 1,475
Reversal of write down of inventories 17 & i @l (441) - - (441)

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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AR M ERR M

Segment information (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers by the location of customers and
(i) the Group’s non-current assets (excluded deferred tax assets)

by location of assets.

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

W=k oIBER =)
FEER ()
@ B

TR (VAR EIZFFAELE D
KEIAEPKE M () AEELZEEMNR
EE D IR EE (T EEEERIEA

BE)NEHR -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
RENREF WG FRBEE
For the year ended 31 March As at 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEFE R=A=+—H
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E-= —EF - —E-= —=E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
F& T T FET FHIT
Hong Kong BE 149,450 128,918 1,747 1,551
Scandinavia BT H 4 4 2 5,179 2,454 - -
Macau SRFT 1,522 8,698 - -
The PRC i - - 13,803 16,747
Others Hib 897 1,678 - -
157,048 141,748 15,550 18,298
Information about major customers FTEEFREH

Revenue from major customers which accounted for 10% or more

of the Group’s revenue for each of the year are set out below:

REFERBIEAREERZE10% 3 A £
ZEEEPHREEIINT

2023 2022

—E_-=F —E-_F

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FExT Fi&T

Customer A (note (a)) B A @) 35,518 N/ATEM©
Customer B (note (b)) =P B(ME (D) 34,626 N/ATEFO
Customer C (note (b)) ZPC(MEDb) 16,319 N/ATEM©
Customer D (note (b)) ZP DM (b)) N/AREH © 28,673
Customer E (note (a)) BFPEMFE() N/AREH© 18,833

Notes:

(@  The revenue was derived from manufacturing and trading of DTH

rockdrilling tools.

(b)  The revenue was derived from manufacturing and trading of DTH

rockdrilling tools and trading of rockdrilling equipment.

() Revenue from the customer is less than 10% of the total revenue of

the Group for the year.
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AR B ERER I aE

6 OTHER INCOME 6 HWA
2023 2022
—EBE-=F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Bank interest income HRITHEHA 238 78
Dividend income from financial assets REBBEIEAFEARZ
at FVTPL SRMEENRERA 1,054 165
Government grant (note) BB () 808 -
Interest income on deposits placed FHMRER A R 2 73 F) B UL A
at an insurance company 60 93
Service income of piling and drilling FTAEHE N BB M LA N 38 B AR TS WA
machineries and equipment 72 385
Scrap and accessory sales RERL R AL IH & 1,334 389
Sundry income FIEMA 687 614
4,253 1,724
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group recognised Wi : e —E-—=—®F=-A=+—HI&

government grants of HK$452,000 in respect of Covid-19 related-
subsidies, of which HK$416,000 and HK$36,000 related to
Employment Support Scheme provided by the Hong Kong
Government and the Chinese Government, respectively.

B - AEERERN T E S HAR
I 546 B 452,000/ 7T » EH 416,000
77T % 36,000 78 7T B & B BUT K A [
BUR R R E BB -

1 1 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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7 IMPAIRMENT LOSSES UNDER EXPECTED CREDIT 7 FEHEEEEENIE N

LOSS MODEL, NET AND OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES EEEFEARAEWER
EiE
2023 2022
—EB-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Impairment losses under ECL model, FEEEEBEEXIETH
net include the following: EEEFEBIEATIER :
Impairment losses on trade receivables, net & 5 & U 2k 18 6 (8 5 18 )% 58 (4,307) (762)

Details of impairment assessment are set BB A B M FES0
out in Note 30.

Other gains and losses include the followings: E b iz M EIBBEIEA T &IE ¢

Net foreign exchange gain SNPE U ZS R EE 1,753 316
Gain on disposal of property, MEME - HE&KEERE

plant and equipment 22 35
Reversal of write down of inventories FEMRRED 360 441

(Loss) gain on fair value changes of FHREREATEARZ SRR
financial assets at FVTPL BEATEZE (BE) kS (1,685) 1,647
450 2,439

8 FINANCE COSTS 8 MEMRX

2023 2022
—E-=F B F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Interest on bank and other borrowings RITREMEEFE 541 307
Interest on lease liabilities HEAaEME 494 566
1,035 873
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9 LOSS BEFORE TAX

9 KRBAER

2023 2022
—EBE-=F -

HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAT

Loss before tax has been arrived FRELRIES 1B E HIkR

at after charging: LATNIEE -

Directors’ remuneration (Note 11) EEMe (FIFE11) 600 558
Other staff costs Hh 8 TRA 24,213 21,383
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes R E FIEF 24 2% 1,628 1,579
Total staff costs BT ERE 26,441 23,520
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured 2 & 7Nk A&l TE & 5k 2 (4,744) (5,154)
21,697 18,366
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment ¥ - &= MR EITE 2,010 2,037
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured & 75k & 8317 B A AR (667) (778)
1,343 1,259
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHREEETE 2,177 2,107
Capitalised in cost of inventories manufactured & & ZNk & 8E 17 B A AR (1,475) (1,475)
702 632
Auditor’s remuneration SR EN& 650 800
Cost of inventories recognised as an expense  #ER AF X 2 TF & KA 113,630 102,147

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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10 TAXATION CREDIT (CHARGE)

10 HIEER (XH)

2023 2022
—E=-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FHIT
Current tax: BNEAFR I
Hong Kong D (178) (237)
PRC Enterprise Income Tax A B { B FTIS A (613) (5195)
(791) (752)
Over (under)-provision in prior years: BEFEBRERE(TR) :
Hong Kong B 3,738 -~
PRC Enterprise Income Tax Rl ZEPTIEE (31) (56)
3,707 (56)
Current tax credit (charge) BUEAFR A % (S H) 2,916 (808)
Deferred tax credit (Note 25) IRIER A & (FiFE25) 24 448
2,940 (360)
The Hong Kong Profits Tax of the qualifying group entity under the PREAEENEEREREENT AR
two-tiered profits tax rates regime is calculated at 8.25% on the ENSE2AE B Tt ERFHEA R
first HK$2 million of the estimated assessable profits and at 16.5% R BN 128.205% 15 - mtiA
on the estimated assessable profits above HK$2 million for both B2 A BT HETERTIRTFI1Z 16.5%
years. The Hong Kong Profits Tax of the group entities not HE NESEBERERAZEENEERT
qualifying for the regime is calculated at a flat rate of 16.5% of the O EBFER IRt ERT &R E

estimated assessable profits.

—HBEA6.5%FTE

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT BIEPRCEMEBH E([DNEFREHR
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the PRC EDRDERESBIAZ IS - PR
Enterprise Income Tax is calculated at 25% of the assessable K HM B AT MEFEEYBIZESR
profits for the subsidiary established in the PRC for both years. TS ME) 25% s E R B ERER ©
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

10 TAXATION CREDIT (CHARGE) (Continued) 10 BiEIE R (ZH) @)
The taxation credit (charge) for the year can be reconciled to the RAREEHER R (X H) EBB R EE
loss before tax as follows: HERMT :
2023 2022
—=E-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHEIT
Loss before tax PR A S 1B (6,516) (1,115)
Tax at the domestic income tax rate of 16.5% 1% 7N Fr1S 7 % 16.5% %’JrEZ%)“EIE 1,075 184
Tax effect of expenses not deductible TAIB A 2 B2
for tax purposes (931) (970)
Tax effect of income not taxable BARMBA 2 BT E
for tax purposes 702 390
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERHEBEZHETE (1,161) -
Tax effect of deductible temporary RIERA IR =R 7 RS2
differences not recognised (476) -
Tax effect of different tax rate of subsidiary ~ REM AR LKL 2 B A
operating in other Jurisdiction RATERENREEE (509) (435)
Tax concession (note) MR e () 368 362
Tax effect of two-tiered profits tax rates regime R M5 R I EA RS2 & 165 165
Over (under)-provision in prior years BEFEBERE(TR) 3,707 (56)
Taxation credit (charge) MIEHER (ZH) 2,940 (360)
Note: During the year ended 31 March 2023, the relevant subsidiary Mizx: B2 T -_=F=A=+—HIF
incorporated in Hong Kong and the PRC was entitled to tax E - RES & R /8 R
concession of HK$6,000 (2022: HK$10,000) and HK$362,000 (2022: BRRIDA J? B B 1% R %.6,000%8 7T
HK$342,000), respectively. (Z = = = :10,000% 7Tt ) &
362,000 %75 Z T = =4 : 342,000
T °

-I -I Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

11 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF 1" B THEARKREENS
EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES
Directors and Chief Executive EERTHAR
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed NEEFEEERTHEHNS  BiEEH
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong THRAEREFEARENEENT ¢

Companies Ordinance is as follows:

For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-—E-_=F=A=+—HILEE
Performance
related Contributions
Salaries incentive to retirement
and other payments benefit
Fee benefits (note) schemes Total
HER ENRSe RUKEH
ik Hit @ (F=E) TR @zt
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
THRT TET THT THT THET
Executive directors BTEZ
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau EYRREE 240 - - - 240
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda FRERL = - - - -
240 - - - 240

Independent non-executive B EHITES

directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki Wl L 120 - - = 120
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen eyt 120 = = - 120
Mr. Yiu To Wa thiEE R 120 - - - 120
360 = = = 360
600 = = = 600
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M ERR M

11 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF

11

EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES (Continuea)

Directors and Chief Executive (Continued)

11

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, disclosed
pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and Hong Kong

Companies Ordinance is as follows: (Continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2022

EE THRRAIKEEMSE
(%)
EERTRER (%)

AEREZERTRAHNS  REES
FHRAREELRGHRENT :
(&)

BE - —F=A=1+—HItFE

Performance
related  Contributions

Salaries incentive  to retirement
and other payments benefit
Fee benefits (note) schemes Total
a2k EmRE BT
ik H it g F () I wat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET TAT TEL TAT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Chui Kwong Kau (note 1) ¥ Bk 4 (H5E1) 198 - _ _ 198
Ms. Li Kai Lai Miranda TEBEuT - - - - -
Mr. Huang Shixin (note 1) St &L A (1) - - - - -
198 - - - 198
Independent non-executive B FHTEE
directors
Ms. Lam Hoi Yu Nicki mELnz £ 120 - - - 120
Mr. Lau Leong Yuen ZI2REAE 120 - - - 120
Mr. Yiu To Wa BB 120 - - - 120
360 - - - 360
558 - - - 558

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were for their
services in connection with the management of the affairs of the

Company and the Group. The independent non-executive directors’

emoluments shown above were for their services as directors of the

Company.

Note 1: On 4 June 2021, Mr. Chui Kwong Kau was appointed and Mr.
Huang Shixin resigned as an executive director.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B ERER I aE

IR
11 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS AND CHIEF 11 B THHEBRKEEME
EXECUTIVE AND EMPLOYEES (Continued) ()
Five highest paid employees LERESFEMES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the years
ended 31 March 2023 and 2022 do not include any directors of the
Company. Details of the remuneration for the year ended 31 March
2023 of the five (2022: five) highest paid employees who are neither
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

BE_ET-_=Fk-_FT-__F=H

=t-

RILFE  AEBERLRRSH M

BEEVYTBEAQNREIMES HE—
T —FZA=1+—BHItFE A& (=
ToF AR WIHEARRERNKITH

BENTETMESNEFNFIBNT

2023 2022
—EB-=fF —=E-—

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FH&T
Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind HE - EBINREMRZE 7,240 7,413
Performance related incentive payments (note) #& 0824 (M) 2,378 1,357
Contributions to retirement benefit schemes R (KT FI|5T 22k 144 140
9,762 8,910

Note: The performance related incentive payments are determined on the
performance of the individuals and the profitability of the group
entities during the year.

The number of these highest paid employees, whose emolument
fell within the following bands is as follows:

PAE

BRREBFAFENBARELE
EEEBINBERME

WeFeATHENZEIRSFHMES

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000
HK$2,000,001 to HK$2,500,000
HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000
HK$3,500,001 to HK$4,000,000

RASINT :
2023 2022
—==-= —=E_—

1,000,001 B 7L E 1,500,000 % 7T 3 3
1,500,001 78 7T & 2,000,000 7 7T - 1
2,000,001 78 7T £ 2,500,000 78 7T 1 -
2,500,001 77T & 3,000,000 7 7T - 1
3,500,001 & 7T & 4,000,000 % 7T 1 -
5 5

No emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors of the
Company or the five highest paid individuals (including directors
and employees) as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group
or as compensation for loss of office for the years ended 31 March
2023 and 2022. None of the directors waived or agreed to waive
any emoluments for the years ended 31 March 2023 and 2022.

B2 -_=F kT -_—_F=HA
=T—HIEFE AEEHEREARF
EER LGB WAL (BIEEERE
B)EZNME - tEAIASIMALREBE %
REEXEABBEE B2 ==
FEN T _FZA=+—HILFE"

BEEEHELARATARTMIE -

BREBRZERERAT
2022/23 F 1
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

12 DIVIDENDS 12 RE
No dividend was paid or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the RAEFE - BERAA R EEIRAAE
Company during both years, nor has any dividend been proposed IR SERIRNIRE - BEREHERURK
since the end of the reporting period. TN R RS R IRE ©
13 LOSS PER SHARE 13 BREE
2023 2022
—E-=F -
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHIT
Loss for the purpose of calculating basic BT EBRERNER
loss per share: K E1E -
Loss for the year attributable to owners KARHEE AEIEFEA
of the Company 518 (3,504) (454)
’000 ‘000
T & T
Number of shares: RMHEE -
Number of ordinary shares for the purpose ARt E G E A EIE
of calculating basic loss per share EORR N =] 380,000 380,000
No diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2023 and HRBE_T_=FR=T-__F=H
2022 was presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in T+ HBILEFEYECETELEL R
issue during both years. A% - B A 2 5 R E G E R B IR R S
o
1 1 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y% BERSZHE
Furniture,
fixtures
and office Motor Plant and Leasehold
equipment vehicles machineries improvements Total
B -
BEEER
BARE RE BER#E BENELE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTEL FEL FEL THL FHEL
Cost BA
At 1 April 2021 RZE-_—-FmA—H 4237 6,112 19,976 4,150 34,475
Currency realignment L 151 51 734 136 1,072
Additions NE 287 - 292 - 579
Disposals/written off HeE S (34) - (400) - (434)
At 31 March 2022 RZZE--#=fF=+—H 4,641 6,163 20,602 4,286 35,692
Currency realignment i 5 R (282) (99) (1,378) (255) (2,014)
Additions NE 151 451 128 277 1,007
Disposals HeE (121) (338) - - (459)
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-_=F=R=+—H 4,389 6,177 19,352 4,308 34,226
Depreciation e
At 1 April 2021 RZE=—FHNA—H 2917 3,940 15,017 3,724 26,498
Currency realignment [ 5 % 108 36 585 136 865
Provided for the year FREE 323 796 778 140 2,037
Elimination on disposals/written off HE /e 4 5 (19) - (400) - (419
At 31 March 2022 RZZEZZ#=ZA=1—H 3,329 4,772 16,880 4,000 28,981
Currency realignment I GE:S (207) (65) (1,121) (255) (1,648)
Provided for the year FRER 358 880 667 105 2,010
Elimination on disposals HEREH (109) (304) - - (413
At 31 March 2023 R-Z-_=%#=fF=+—H 3,371 5,283 16,426 3,850 28,930
Carrying values REE
At 31 March 2023 RZZE-=%=F=+—H 1,018 894 2,926 458 5,296
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_—F=A=+—H 1,312 1,391 3,722 286 6,711
The above items of property, plant and equipment are depreciated iz - BEMKBEER TIFL
on a straight-line basis at the following rates per annum: RAEGEENE
Furniture, fixtures and office 20% B BERER 20%
equipment PN
Motor vehicles 25%-30% A 25%-30%
Plant and machineries 10%-25% 5 M 2s 10%-25%
Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the term of HEMEERE HHEE sk
lease, or 20%-33% 20%-33%
(AEEEA%E)
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AR B ERER I aE

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS 15 ERAREE
Factory
premises
TRz
HK$'000
FAT
As at 31 March 2023 RIE_=F=A=+—H
Carrying amount FRMEA 10,254
As at 31 March 2022 R-E-_—F=HA=+—H
Carrying amount FRMEE 11,587
For the year ended 31 March 2023 BE-_Z-_=F=ZA=t+—HBILFE
Depreciation charge TERZ 2,177
For the year ended 31 March 2022 BE-_ZE-_—_F=A=t+—HILFE
Depreciation charge WERX 2,107
2023 2022
== —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Expense relating to short-term leases HICHIHERH EI’J X 1,868 1,494
Total cash outflow for leases HERSRHE 4,430 3,868
For both years, the Group leases factory premises for its BAWTIEF REEHE TR
operations. Lease contracts are entered into for fixed term of 2 to T o FIRI M MM E S LR E T HIR
12 years. Lease terms are negotiated on an individual basis and 2%2;.;12¢ THEEK DR R M
contain a wide range of different terms and conditions. In TER - BESETEUER RIEMY - RNE
determining the lease term and assessing the length of the non- FEMHBA LGB BAENRER
cancellable period, the Group applies the definition of a contract AEBERGHNERLET AR
and determines the period for which the contract is enforceable. HIBITHIHAR] o
-I 2 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

15

16

AR e BRI R

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (continued) 15 FRHEEE®)
The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for staff quarters AREBTFEHIVEIBTERRATYWE
and office premises. As at 31 March 2023 and 31 March 2022, the MEPEE R_E-_=F=A=1+—
portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the portfolio of short-term BER-_ZE-_—F=ZA=+—H  %=HHA
leases to which the short-term lease expense disclosed above. EHAEHE EXIRE SRR ERS T
HEMEHEEAEGES -
During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group entered into a HE_Z-_=-"F=-"A=1+—HILFE"
non-cash transaction regarding to new lease arrangement in AREERIMYENTHRELTHEI L IE
respect of factory premise. Right-of-use assets and lease liabilities REXF o FRHESERTBEEGED R
of HK$844,000 (2022: nil) and HK$844,000 (2022: nil) respectively BBA4000B T(ZE__F: &)X
were recognised at the commencement of the lease. 844,000 L (= - —4F : &) - WK
BRI R o
DEPOSITS PLACED AT AN INSURANCE COMPANY 16 FRRB AT ZHER
2023 2022
—E_=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Deposits placed at an insurance company  FRMRBA B 275K - 4,788

During the year ended 31 March 2017, the Group entered into
several life insurance contracts (the “Policies”) with an insurance
company to insure all the former executive directors of the
Company (who remain as key management of the Group in the
current year). Under the Policies, the beneficiary and policy holder
were Top Mark, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
the total insured sum was United States dollars (“US$”) 1,800,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$14,040,000). The Group needed
to pay a premium charge at inception amounting to US$548,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$4,256,000). The insurance
company would pay the Group a guaranteed interest rate of 3.9%
per annum for the first to five years and a variable return per annum
afterwards (with guaranteed minimum interest rate of 2.25% per
annum) during the effective period of the Policies on the
outstanding cash value of the Policies (which is determined by the
premium charge plus accumulated interest earned and minus
notional amount charge, cost of insurance charge and premium
loan (if any)).

HE-Z—+E=ZA=1+—HILtEE -
AEBE-RRBRABFIZZ M ASZR
BAEY(RE]) - BARRZE2EBATH
NTEERAFEDAIEBEZEZER
B)RAR o IRIBFRE - KARARZ2EH B
NEIEREBAZEARKRA - 818
{REEA1,800,000F 7T ([ £k ]) (FHER
#714,040,00087T) - NEEERABB
HA % - 1R #548,000% 7T ( B 8 B 4
4,256,000/ 7C) « IREE R EIHRE —=
FRFAASEETTRBFEFEI.9% -
YR ERREEFHRRIRE Z KGR
SEERREERNZE R ST
hREEcHER RREARREBER
(A mEE)BFZ N 2E®H (&K
REBFFEE2.25%) °

BREBEEZERERAT
2022/23 F 1
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16 DEPOSITS PLACED AT AN INSURANCE COMPANY

(Continued)

The Group was allowed to terminate the Policies at any time and to
receive value in cash based on the outstanding cash value of the
Policies at the date of withdrawal. A specified amount of surrender
charge will apply if withdrawal of the Policies is made between the

1st to 14th policy year.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, after taking into
consideration of a surrender charge of HK$523,000 for the
withdrawal of Policies, the Group decided to terminate the Policies
in order to utilise the deposits in daily business operations. The

surrender charge is included in the administrative expenses.

16 FRREBATZER®)

REE A BER R I IRE - WIRIAEE B A
ZRERENReEERLDRSEE-
R E1 2 F14EREFEHEREER
B BREEESRERER -

HE_Z-_=F=A=1+—HIEE "
= R R IR E AR R B F 528,000
Bk AEBRERILRELNEER
AREBEBKEE - RREATAITH
X e

17 INVENTORIES 17 FE&
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Raw materials and consumables [ N B RE R 18,238 19,186
Work in progress TR 11,858 7,236
Finished goods B TR 26,375 29,318
56,471 55,740

-I 2 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 18 EFRHEHMEWNKIE
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade receivables B 5 W GIA 54,145 42,833
Less: Allowance for credit losses B EEEERE (6,146) (3,237)
47,999 39,596
Other receivables Hoh fEURERIR
— Value-added tax recoverable — A EEER 6,412 4,651
— Prepayments — IR 9,555 11,780
— Deposits — i7e 2,865 3,834
— Other receivables — HihElga 236 110
Total trade and other receivables B REMEWFIaARE 67,067 59,971
As at 1 April 2021, trade receivables from contracts with customers N_E-Z—FMHHA—A BEFPFHE]
amounted to HK$30,260,000. K EEHE 5 EURIE 7 30,260,000 ,%
7_|: o
The Group grants a credit period ranged from O day to 90 days AEBHRTEFPHNEEANTRNED
upon delivery of goods to its customers. The following is an aging %0ZE90H - U T ARHEBRENZ
analysis of trade receivables based on dates of delivery of goods, NEYE N E 5 EIEIE (B HREE
net of impairment losses at the end of the reporting period: [E518) BRER D AT
2023 2022
—=E_= —_=E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FH&T Fi&T
0 to 30 days 0£&30H 11,554 10,138
31 to 60 days 312 60H 11,082 3,710
61 to 90 days 61290H 1,850 4,509
91 to 180 days 912180 H 5,622 8,738
181 days to 1 year 181 HE14F 8,081 5,917
Over 1 year 1FE 9,810 6,584
47,999 39,596

A 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

N

18

19

12

AR B ERER I aE

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continuec)

At 31 March 2023, included in the Group’s trade receivables
balance are debtors with aggregate carrying amount of
HK$27,105,000 (2022: HK$32,324,000) which are past due at the
end of the reporting period. Out of the past due balances,
HK$21,063,000 (2022: HK$15,450,000) has been past due 90
days or more and is not considered as in default as the directors of
the Company are of the opinion that the balances are still
considered fully recoverable due to long-term/on-going relationship
and good repayment records from these debtors. The Group does
not hold any collateral over these balances.

Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 30.
The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated in

currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group
entities are set out below:

18 ESRHMEWRIE®)

RZZEZ=F=A=+—8 KEEMNZ
SRR ELESELEBEEDMEA
27,105,000/ 7T ( — & = —4F : 32,324,000
BIT) BE R RS BRREI BB IR X ©
B L BR 45 f4 HF  21,083,00008 JT( = F
— — 4% 115,450,000 7T ) E 7 2590 B 5k
LAE  WAHRAEY  RERANRNZE
EBANESR, FHEBRIRTFENRT
8 NAREFRAZEERDWR AT
FAREUE - AEE W EIFHZEEHD
FEHEA o

RAERHE RSB HIFES0 -
AEBARBEEEERNEEEIAING

BE¥ECE S IAMBKRFKIAR A
T

2023 2022

—E=-= -~
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAT
Denominated in Renminbi (‘RMB”) UIARB(TARY]DEHE 899 -
Denominated in US$ AZETEHE 2,683 413
Denominated in Euro LABRTEHE 38 25

FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS

19 EBBEREAFEARZE

MEE

2023 2022
—_=E_= =S
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHIT
Financial assets mandatorily measured BRERZAFERGFTEZ
at FVTPL: BEEE -
Listed securities held for trading: BEBEZ FThES
— Equity securities listed on — R R AT EM 2 RAES
the Stock Exchange (note) (Bi3E) 23,349 25,034

Note: The listed securities on the Stock Exchange are measured at fair
value at recurring basis, by reference to market bid price in an active
market.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR B ERER I aE

W
20 BANK BALANGES AND CASH 20 RITERKREAE
The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in REBIAEBEEETEEEEIIG
currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group EEHEZIRTER LIRS EHY T -
entities are set out below:
2023 2022
—E_=F —EFE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Denominated in RMB IARKEGHE 16,702 17,685
Denominated in US$ AZETTEHE 1,671 2,077
Denominated in Euro B TETE 1,374 614
Bank balances carry interests at prevailing market rates ranging IRITHEHIEN T0.01%E0.625% (==
from 0.01% to 0.625% (2022: 0.001% to 0.300%) per annum. — Z%F :0.001% £ 0.300%) B & B T 35
FRERFE o
Details of impairment assessment are set out in Note 30. BB B E A MIFES0
=%
21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 21 EFNHEMENRIR
2023 2022
—ZET== —Fq-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Trade payables =) b 5,407 3,911
Accrued expenses FEFTRISZ 2,685 3,579
Accrued housing provident fund ErtEERAES 1,031 1,113
Other payables Huh a8 140 350
Total trade and other payables B 5 R E AT IR BT 9,263 8,953

The credit period of trade payables granted by suppliers is from 30
to 90 days upon the issue of invoices.

HEFETHNESEMNRENEESN
THRAZERFT0EQA -

BEREBEZERERAA

2022/23 F 1 1 25



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

21 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 21

The following is an aging analysis of trade payables based on the

EZREMENSFIE®)
AT AZSENRIBELNEER BN

12

invoice dates.

-IhA aN *ﬁ

2023 2022
—EB-= —_=E_—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FAET
0 to 30 days 0O&E30H 4,248 3,554
31 to 60 days 31Z260H 1,039 357
181 to 365 days 181 £365H 120 -
5,407 3,911
The Group’s trade and other payables that are denominated in NREFBUMBAER TR EE UG

currency other than the functional currencies of the relevant group

ERFEZES REMENFEHIIM

entities are set out below: T :

2023 2022
—_=E_= —EF-—

HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FHEIT
Denominated in RMB AR E - 781
Denominated in US$ LAZETTEHE - 15
Denominated in Euro LABRTEHE 102 2

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

22 CONTRACT LIABILITIES 22 EHNEE
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FH&T
Contract liabilities BHBE 3,897 487
As at 1 April 2021, contract liabilities amounted to HK$1,890,000. RZEZ—FWMA—H AHNEEAR
During the year ended 31 March 2023, an amount of HK$487,000 1,890,000 L HEZT Z=F = A
(2022: HK$1,890,000) relating to brought-forward contract liabilities =+—RHIEFE BHECAEENAER
was fully recognised as revenue. 487,000 L(ZF = =4 : 1,890,000 /%
T) BERER R -
Contract liabilities represent deposits received in advance for EHBERERNEREEEIEETH
manufacturing and trading of DTH rockdrilling tools. For certain of MELKIMNIZES - BRAEERETER
the Group’s customers, the Group receives a deposit before mE @ NEE SRR R &R REUE
manufacturing commences, giving rise to contact liabilities until T MEASNERE  BEEERANE -
revenue is recognised.
4= 4
23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 23 SRITRHEMEE
2023 2022
—EB-=fF —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Bank loans, guaranteed BERORITER 13,210 -
Other loan, unsecured ER R EAMER 15,000 20,000
28,210 20,000
Carrying amounts repayable within ER—FRERIIIR
one year and included under current KB B ENREE
liabilities (with a repayable on (BIERERERER)
demand clause) 28,210 20,000
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23 BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (continueq)

The bank borrowings as at 31 March 2023 carried interest from
USD prime rate plus 1% to Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate plus
3.5% (2022: nil) per annum. The effective interest rates of the bank
borrowings ranged from 7.56% to 9% (2022: nil) per annum.

24

12

The other borrowing as at 31 March 2023 carried interest at 1%

(2022: 1%) per annum.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group further entered

REMERET

E29%

BFEFEA1%

TRIZEHFENMNS.5%
BoRITEENERTF X/
F ) o

—=— —

=

23 SRITRHEMEER )
R-F-=F=A=+-AHRTHER

REBMEMI%EFTER

—= — —

=

— = — —

=

F o E)E
N F7.56%

R-FE-_=—F=-A=t—HWHEMEER

1%)FH8 °

BHE_ZT_=F=A=+—BLLFE"

into an agreement with the financial institution to extend the existing AEBESRMEEE— P HaE U
other borrowing for an additional term of one year (2022: one year). ERIBEEMEE —FHEINFH(-Z
TTF G —F)o
LEASE LIABILITIES 24 HEAE
2023 2022
—E-=F —=E-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FET
Lease liabilities payable ENHEEAE
Within one year —FRN 2,499 2,001
Within a period of more than one year —F LA HEMFREIR
but not more than two years 7,813 2,085
Within a period of more than two years M4 LA _H1B & R HARE
but not more than five years 1,380 7,450
Within a period of more than five years AFER EHRER = 1,380
11,692 12,916
Less: Amount due for settlement B AR12EARNEE Y 5
within 12 months shown under (BMrshBERSIR)
current liabilities (2,499) (2,001)
Amount due for settlement after 12 months BR12@E BB EE 2 &5
shown under non-current liabilities (RIERBEBERNYIR) 9,193 10,915

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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25 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated statement of
financial position, certain deferred tax assets and liabilities have
been offset. The following is the analysis of the deferred tax
balances for financial reporting purposes:

25

EEBIREE AfE
BREAHBHRREZ - & TETH
BEERABRAIE - LT AR
W B T SRR B BB -

2023 2022

—E_= —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHBxT FAT
Deferred tax assets FIETRIE & 2,416 2,416
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBERE (102) (126)
2,314 2,290

The following are the deferred tax assets (liabilities) recognised and

AT BRAFE SR T F R R AIRT

movements thereon during the current and prior years: HIEEE(AB) AREES !
Accelerated
ECL tax
provision depreciation Tax loss Total
RHEE mE
EBREG BERE BIEEE Fob
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
At 1 April 2021 R-E-—FMA—H 408 3 1,431 1,842
Credit (charge) to profit or loss AR (BEBRNR) 125 (89) 412 448
At 31 March 2022 RZE-_%#=A=1+—H 533 (86) 1,843 2,290
Credit to profit or loss FAER - 24 - 24
At 31 March 2023 RZE-=%=ZA=1+—H 533 62) 1,843 2,314

AL 129
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DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continuec)

No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of the
unutilised tax losses of HK$7,486,000 (2022: HK$450,000) due to
the unpredictability of future profit streams. The tax losses may be
carried forward indefinitely.

As at 31 March 2023, the Group has deductible temporary
differences of HK$2,885,000 (2022: nil). No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary difference
as it is not probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised.

Under the EIT Law of PRC, withholding tax is imposed on dividends
declared in respect of profits earned by the PRC companies from 1
January 2008 onwards. Deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of deductible
temporary differences attributable to retained profits of the PRC
subsidiary amounting to HK$22,719,000 (2022: HK$16,936,000)
as the Group is able to control the timing of reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

SHARE CAPITAL

25

ELEREEE 88w

FR A B TBRI R B0 FI SRR - Bt £ Bt
14 A ) A 2 B T8 E518 7,486,000 T (=
T T T4 1 450,000 7T ) RIELER I
B - BiIEEE R ER AR AL o

N_E-_=F=A=+—H0 X&EEE
B 08 E B = 562,885,00008 (= F
ZIZF |) c HRELENAEREA
L B 2= B Y JIE AR AR A B AT AR 1R
A HBERZET MR EREZERER
FERTBEE °

BREFENCEMSHE BZZZN
F—A—B8  pPERRBRNA G
FrE kB A% BB S TEHEL o I M kA
B FfY 88 2 R R B8 42 I FE A /9 AT F0 B B B
#Z= #022719,0008 T( =T = = F:
16,936,000 %70 ) MR & B 75 3k R 5T iR
FERBERE  RRASAEEER T
BB OEREENERE BZEREE
ER] RS RIR AT ge g B E -

26 BRA

Share
capital
[N
HK$’000
FAT

Number of
shares
& E
000

Fi

Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 each HREEN BT E
Authorised: ERE

At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and
31 March 2023

il

R-ZFE-—_—FMmOA—AQH -
“E-F=ZA=+—HK
—E-_=F=A=+—H

n
X

500,000 50,000

Issued and fully paid: ERITRHE
At 1 April 2021, 31 March 2022 and

31 March 2023

R-ZFE-_—FMWMA—AQH -
—E-—F=ZA=+—H8~k
—E_=F=F=1+—H

380,000 38,000

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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27 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

%\
nT

27 RRBHBIRR R

COMPANY
2023 2022
—E-=F —EFE-=
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH&xT FHET
Non-current assets kREBEE
Investment in a subsidiary R—FEBARIEE 79,611 79,611
Property, plant and equipment ME - WENERE 371 1,080
79,982 80,691
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables H b fE U B 253 226
Amounts due from subsidiaries RS NGIE e 1,292 1,178
Financial assets at FVTPL BREREATEARZEREE 23,349 25,034
Bank balances and cash RITEBR LIRS 10,817 13,289
35,711 39,727
Current liabilities REEE
Other payables Hh T RIR 585 764
Amount due to a subsidiary FER—REWEB A RIZIEA 11,995 12,147
12,580 12,911
Net current assets RBEEFE 23,131 26,816
103,113 107,507
Capital and reserves EARREE
Share capital R 2R 38,000 38,000
Reserves e 65,113 69,507
103,113 107,507
BREBEEZERERAT

2022/23 F 3R
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27 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

27 RDABMBEMRRET =)

COMPANY (Continued)
Reserves of the Company AAT#EE
Share Accumulated
premium losses Total
R R E ZitER st
HK$’000 HK$ 000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
As at 1 April 2021 R-E-—FMA—H 124,553 (52,705) 71,848
Loss and total comprehensive FREEBEEEERS
expense for the year - (2,341) (2,341)
As at 31 March 2022 R-EBE-_—_F=A=+—H 124,553 (65,046) 69,507
Loss and total comprehensive FREBENREEARST
expense for the year - (4,394) (4,394)
As at 31 March 2023 R-EBE-_=F=A=+—H 124,553 (59,440) 65,113

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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28 PARTICULARS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED
SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY

The table below shows details of non wholly-owned subsidiaries of

the Company that have material non-controlling interests:

28 ANRTEHFZEMBARFEE

TRINFARRHEAEAF TR
F2EMBERRMS -

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting Profit (loss) allocated to
and principal rights held by non-controlling interests Accumulated
Name of place of non-controlling interests for the year ended non-controlling interests
subsidiary business as at 31 March 31 March as at 31 March
R=A=+-AH BE=-RA=t-ALFE
IR LR FRHERASRTRERES AEFFEHERD R=A=+-H
WEAREHE TEERME RERZE#LH A (&8 BT FFEFIER
2023 2022 2023 2022 2023 2022
“E-=E T B T ZE-=ZE T CF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
FET FET TET FET
Norry Tech The PRC 49% 49% 2,753 1,904 22,776 21,770
pilyed i
Tristate International Hong Kong 49% 49% (2,825) (2,925) 12,380 15,205
B B &k
(72) (1,021) 35,156 36,975

Summarised financial information in respect of the above two
companies that have material non-controlling interests is set out
below. The summarised financial information below represents
amounts before intragroup eliminations.

BEERFEN#ERZ DEARE AR
MBERBEZEIMT - NAMBER
MEREEEANHHAANTE -
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PARTICULARS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

RARHZEMBRARFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) (4)
Norry Tech HRZE
2023 2022
—E-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHIT
Current assets mENEE 48,985 50,833
Non-current assets EMBEE 4,322 5,159
Current liabilities neaE 6,825 11,563
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7~ B H A FE(L s 23,706 22,659
Non-controlling interest of Norry Tech HFER I SIS 22,776 21,770
Revenue WS 106,254 91,089
Expenses 53 100,635 87,203
Profit for the year FREF 5,619 3,886
Profit attributable to owners of the Company "2 &% A A FE(S i 7l 2,866 1,982
Profit attributable to the non-controlling AN IR IR (S
interests of Norry Tech Y A 2,753 1,904
Profit for the year F R T 5,619 3,886
Other comprehensive (expense) income ARNEEA AL EAM
attributable to owners of the Company 2HE(AX)KE (1,819) 915
Other comprehensive (expense) income HEFE IR IR RS PR L H At
attributable to the non-controlling interests 2T (B ) Yz
of Norry Tech (1,747) 879
Other comprehensive (expense) income FREMEE (X)W
for the year (3,566) 1,794
Total comprehensive income attributable to A BIHEA AJE(L 2 E W5 1258
owners of the Company 1,047 2,897
Total comprehensive income attributable to  FCR3E JE1E I HE 2R A 2 E k2t
the non-controlling interests of Norry Tech {a%E 1,006 2,783
Total comprehensive income for the year FAZHER AR 2,053 5,680
Net cash inflow from operating activities KESESTEIEE TN 844 1,797
Net cash outflow from investing activities WEEESTER SR FE (681) (459)
Net cash inflow WERAFHE 163 1,338

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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28 PARTICULARS OF NON WHOLLY-OWNED

28

RARHZEMBRARFE

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE COMPANY (continued) (4)
Tristate International g 0 B B
2023 2022
—=E=-= —ZE-=
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current assets mENEE 22,992 29,569
Non-current assets FERBEE 2,366 1,587
Current liabilities ENAE 93 125
Equity attributable to owners of the Company 7~ B A A FE(L s 12,885 15,826
Non-controlling interest of Tristate International B 55 B B 5 FE 252 i A 25 12,380 15,205
Revenue Wz 110,078 98,678
Expenses 2 115,844 104,647
Loss and total comprehensive expense RABEE NE(EEE R
attributable to owners of the Company 2HER 2% (2,941) (3,044)
Loss and total comprehensive expense Btk o8 B B SRR S RE R e (G B 1B
attributable to non-controlling interests e
of Tristate International (2,825) (2,925)
Loss and total comprehensive expense FEREER
for the year AL B (5,766) (5,969)
Net cash outflow from operating activities LEEBFTSIR SR FE (1,117) (4,625)
Net cash inflow from investing activities KEEEFIFRESRAFE 2 -
Net cash outflow from financing activities BB EEPTEIR S m I ERE (74) -
Net cash outflow RE M F5E (1,189) (4,625)
BREEZERERAT

135

2022/23 F 1



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

=
AR

29

30

13

B B R M et

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group
will be able to continue as a going concern while maximising the
return to the shareholders through the optimisation of the debt and
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged
from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes bank and other borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in
Notes 23 and 24 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, the directors of the Company
consider the cost and the risks associates with each class of
capital. Based on recommendations of the directors of the
Company, the Group will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the
issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

29 EXERER

R E G AR AR A R E A T E
BALHEGE  OEBELEYRES
AR R TR AR R o A EEHE
B A AR L R TR

AEBEARRBREESFE(BRED
M FE23 K 24 WEEHIRIT R HMEE K
HERE MERSFRSFEY) A
RNEGEE NE RS (BRI

ARREBEETERRFERNERE - @
B ARREFERZHREANRAR
HERR - REAAAEENHEEER
R AEEBEBRMNERE - EITH
B URBEITHEXERRBES Y

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30 £FTH
Categories of financial instruments ST EER
2023 2022
—E-=F —EF-=
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FET FET
Financial assets EREE
FVTPL FRBERZATE
— held for trading — HEER 23,349 25,034
Amortised cost BIER AR 114,674 104,844
Financial liabilities =K
Amortised cost B PR 45,449 37,177

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include trade receivables,
other receivables, deposits, bank balances and cash, financial
assets at FVTPL, trade and other payables, bank and other
borrowings and lease liabilities. Details of these financial instruments
are disclosed in respective notes. The risks associated with these
financial instruments include market risks (currency risk, interest
rate risk and equity price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The
policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. The
management manages and monitors these exposures to ensure
appropriate measures are implemented on a timely and effective
manner.

0 £€RTH»

cRRABEEEERBE
AEENTFESHTAREE ZRKHK
B HiEUWRIR - RE - |RITERK
Be BEBESEATEARZE®E
= E5LEMENRIER  RITREAM
fEENREERE - ZFER T AN
BRENEBANT - BZEERMIAR
R EREEM SRR (EERER - FIX
Rk MR ERER) - EERR MRS
Bk - RZERBOBREANRT
X BEEEEYERZSTERARER
EEBRCEBEEERE

Market risks 5 2 b2
Currency risk B Rk

The Group’s exposure to currency risk mainly arises from the
fluctuation of US$, Euro and RMB against the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities. The carrying amounts of the foreign
currency denominated monetary assets and monetary liabilities
other than the functional currencies of the group entities are as
follows. The management closely monitors foreign exchange
exposure to mitigate the foreign currency risk.

AEERHNERRREIZRAET
BT AREHEREEERIIEER
MK E) o REERBINEEE B AN INE
AHEENEEREBAGEREENT °
BIE B 1) B 4 IGE R B ik 1 A 4 A A1
B o

Liabilities Assets
=N BE
2023 2022 2023 2022
—E_= T —EB=-= —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHEIT FET FH&TT
RMB AR - (781) 17,601 17,685
Us$ ETT - (15) 4,354 7,278
Euro (H o (102) @) 1,412 639
BREBEEZERERAT
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued)

Currency risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

Since HK$ is pegged to US$ under the Linked Exchange Rate
System, the management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate fluctuation
between HK$ and US$. The Group mainly exposes to foreign
currency risks other than US$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase
in the functional currencies against the relevant foreign currency of
the relevant group entities. 5% is the sensitivity rate used in
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity analysis includes only
outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items, and
adjusts their translation at the end of each reporting period for a 5%
change in foreign currency rates. A negative number below
indicates a decrease in the Group’s loss after tax for the year where
the functional currency of the relevant group entities strengthens
against the relevant foreign currency. For a 5% weakening of the
functional currency of the relevant group entities, there would be an
equal and opposite impact on the Group’s loss after tax for the
year.

0 £€RTH»

SREREERBRRBEE)
55 ()

BERR (&)

BBED

RIRBE B 0E R - BT RIS
EEEEHLEERAETH RTERRK
B EASNERR - REBEERmEE
TLIASNOSNE R

TERALASEEHBEEEERNE
ERAABINEEE 5% BN Tl
RE - 5% REE B EINEEXRAER
REEIEMRANEREL R - BREE
IMEBRAINETENREETER A
B WHERHREARNOREIELINE
EXREF 5% WAE - TRAMAZMTFTR
THEEE BRI EE LHEEINETT
18 B 7R 5 (B 10 7K 4F 2 B B 1% &5 1R 0 OBl
Lo HEEEERNERERZESBAE
HARBEERBHRBREERFHER

S 488
= °

2023 2022
—E-=F —F-—
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FHET
Foreign currency his
RVB AR (735) (706)
Euro BT (55) @7)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative
of the foreign exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Market risks (Continued)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk in relation to
fixed-rate other borrowings and lease liabilities as disclosed in
Notes 23 and 24. The management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk relates primarily to variable-
rate bank balances and bank borrowings as disclosed in Notes 20
and 23 due to the fluctuation of the prevailing market interest rate.
The Group currently does not have a policy on hedging interest rate
risk. However, the management monitors interest rate exposure
and will consider hedging significant interest rate risk should the
need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the
exposure to interest rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of liability outstanding at
each reporting period end was outstanding for the whole year. A
100 basis point increase or decrease is used which represents
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates. If interest rates had been 100 basis points higher/
lower and all other variables were held constant, the Group’s profit
after tax for the year ended 31 March 2023 would decrease/
increase by HK110,000 (2022: nil).

Bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the
directors of the Company consider that the exposure of cash flow
interest rate risk arising from variable-rate bank balances is
insignificant.

Equity price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL include listed equity
securities in Hong Kong. These listed equity securities are subject
to market price risk. The management manages this exposure by
maintaining a portfolio of investments with different risk profiles.
Details of the financial assets at FVTPL are set out in Note 19. The
management of the Group considers that the market price risk of
these investments is not significant to the Group.

EWMT R
SREMEEEEREE &)
TIBER ()

RE
REBBHITE 03 B 24 AT E R = B A
EE RS A EREATENERR -
B E R E R RAR -

AEEMRESREN KRR FE EEHFE
20 R 23T E SRITHE A IR TIE R
EE g5 F R K e m ol B EBRE
B o A EIER T EFRE R PIK
o R EEEERFERRI S
TR EBEFEAFRER -

HRE DM

AT ERE ST HRIEARZ BIRTTE
EMFERRBRET - BESWERER
FREHREENEESBRNER/FE
BHREE - EAKTHRIOEES AE
BESANERHIBNSIE S EITH
FH1E o WA R _EFF T BR100 16 E 2 i
FIEHMESRETE  BIREERNE
E-E-=—F="A=1+—HIEENKE
BRI R A3 51110,000% 7T (=
T4 ) o

BHRARREEFRREERITEREE
E)‘jfﬁiuwgﬁjtﬂ %1%Z_EE EME
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RANE 152 fe
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HFBHRMEI0 AEBEEER
B ZERANTERREAEEMS
WREK o

BREBEEZERERAT
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment

Credit risk refers to the risk that the Group’s counterparties default
on their contractual obligations resulting in financial losses to the
Group. The Group’s credit risk exposures are primarily attributable
to trade receivables, other receivables, deposits and bank
balances. The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit
enhancements to cover its credit risks associated with its financial
assets.

Trade receivables arising from contracts with customers

Before accepting any new customers, the Group assesses the
potential customer’s credit quality and defines credit limits by
customer. Credit limits granted to customers are reviewed
periodically. In order to minimise the credit risk, the management
has delegated a team responsible for determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the
Group calculates ECL for the trade receivables individually or
collectively. Except for significant balances or credit-impaired
amounts which are assessed for impairment individually, the
remaining trade receivables are grouped under a collective
assessment after considering internal credit ratings of trade
debtors, ageing, repayment history and/or past due status of
respective trade receivables. Estimated loss rates are based on
historical observed default rates over the expected life of the
debtors and are adjusted for supportable forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available without
undue costs or effort. At every reporting date, the historical
observed default rates are reassessed and changes in the forward-
looking information are considered. In this regard, the directors of
the Company consider that the Group’s credit risk is significantly
reduced.

The Group has concentration of credit risk as 22% (2022: 11%) of
the total gross trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer as at 31 March 2023 and 49% (2022: 46%) of the total
gross trade receivables was due from the five largest customers as
at 31 March 2023.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Other receivables and deposits

The directors of the Company make periodic individual assessment
on the recoverability of other receivables and deposits based on
historical settlement records, past experience, and also quantitative
and qualitative information that is reasonable and supportable
forward-looking information. The directors of the Company believe
that there are no significant increase in credit risk of these amounts
since initial recognition and the Group provided impairment based
on 12m ECL. For both years ended 31 March 2022 and 2023, the
Group assessed the ECL for other receivables and deposits to be
insignificant and thus no loss allowance was recognised.

Bank balances

Credit risk on bank balances is limited because the counterparties
are reputable banks with high credit ratings assigned by
international credit agencies. The Group assessed 12m ECL for
bank balances by reference to information relating to probability of
default and loss given default of the respective credit rating grades
published by external credit rating agencies. Based on the average
loss rates, the 12m ECL on bank balances is considered to be
insignificant.
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Z+—HIEMBAFE  AEEFEEM
JEWFIE kL 2 BHEEBBBHT
BB 0 EU IR EEE o

RITAEER
HRHEF T REERY  LEBEREER

ﬂﬁ%%ﬁ%mﬁf?@Zﬁ * R
Rz EERRER - AEE2EH
EE&VI\.:IHE,\a%&%%ﬁfr%éﬁﬁﬁﬁ%fé/\%
RERNBOBRERBENER - FHE
RITAEBRZ 12 ATRMEERSE - RiIg
FHERE  RITHEHK12EAERE
EEBERARBM I RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

/\\/T\

30 €@ T B
SREAREEREREE (4)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) 1EERE R EF G (&)
Bank balances (Continued) RITHERR (B)

TRINFAKEIREHER A EHN S R
EE(RFEMEEERFGEME) NE

The table below detail the credit risk exposures of the Group’s
financial assets at amortised cost, which are subject to ECL

14

assessment: BERER
External Internal 12m or Gross
credit credit lifetime carrying
rating rating ECL amount
12{8A5
ShEB R 2 HTEH BRE
FETR EETR EEEE #iE
2023 —E-=H HK$°000
TExT
Financial assets at RBHERATTEZ
amortised cost CREE
Trade receivables B 5 ENGRIA Lifetime ECL
N/A note 1 ZHITEH
TEA B &1 EEEE 54,145
Other receivables and deposits Hu e EIE ke 12m ECL
N/A note2 12{@AFEH
TEA faE2 EEEFE 706
Bank balances RITHER Baa or 12m ECL
higher N/A 128 AFEH
Baad &5 FEA FEEE 65,965
External Internal 12m or Gross
credit credit lifetime carrying
rating rating ECL amount
1218 A%
HMED R ZHATEHA BRE
EEIR EE R FEBE 1BE
2022 k=S 2 HK$'000
TAET
Financial assets at RBHERATTEZ
amortised cost CREE
Trade receivables B S ENGRIA Lifetime ECL
N/A note 1 2 75 H
ek B a1 FEBRE 42,833
Other receivables and deposits HEMERGIERIES 12m ECL
N/A note2 12{AATEH
TEA BiEE2 FEEE 599
Bank balances RITEEER 12m ECL
Baa or higher N/A 1218 ATEE
Baadl ¥ 5 TEA E8E#E 64,630

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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A B R R I o

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

30 €M I A »)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) tREREEEERBEK (&)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEmE RS A E G (&)

Bank balances (Continued) RITEESR (E)

Notes: BI3E -

)

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified approach
in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at lifetime ECL. As part of
the Group’s credit risk management, the Group used an internal
credit rating by assigning an individual loss rate to each of its debtors.
The Group applied internal credit risk grading assessment comprises
the following categories:

HESHEUKIANS - AEEEERE
B BREENERZBILIEAE
ZHESEEEECBREE  FRE
SEEERRERN 0 - REBK
RAEENE - AEREBADKE
RIEEER - AEEEBNABEER
Btz FHE BIEA AR

M

Qualification classification definition: HFENETEE

“Strong™: The counterparty has low probability of default [1BfE] . KEEREEE  EBBBR
considering relative size, business relationship and Mg s:  HFFEON
repayment history. Debtors frequently settles before AERE - EEALERE
due date. BRZAI#EE -

“Good”: The counterparty has low default risk considering [BiF]: LEZEBEHE  25EEZ
relative size, business relationship and repayment MR HFHELRE
history. Debtors frequently settles after due date but BRIE - EBALELEE
usually settles in full. RiEE  BRTeRHE

A °

“Satisfactory”: The counterparty has moderate default risk [mEl EEMBERE - EBEER
considering relative size, business relationship and NMEFGLH  BHFFENR
repayment history. Debtors frequently settles after B AEPE o FEEAKLERE
past due 90 days or more. BAQOH A FHEREE -

Gross carrying amount HEREE

The following table provides information about the exposure to credit
risk for trade receivables which are assessed individually within
lifetime ECL (not credit-impaired).

TREHABE S RUGAENE SRR
BE - ZEEZRRGIAER 2 HIEHIE
EBE (BERERE) AEBTWL -

2023 2022

—EB-=f —E-—
Average Trade Average Trade
Internal credit rating AZBEETER lossrate receivables loss rate receivables
FYBEE EZREHRE  THEREX BEZRNFUE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Strong [1E 5% 2,781 3% 2,437
Good Rif 9% 27,285 7% 29,645
Satisfactory mE 15% 24,079 10% 10,751
54,145 42,833

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on historical observed
default rates over the expected life of the debtors and are adjusted
for forward-looking information that is available without undue cost or
effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by the management to
ensure relevant information about specific debtors is updated.

R EIR R TV IZER AR ERF AN
R sh R BB A KT IA A WA
HBZ ARSI A &S Z AR 1EE
FHEL AR - AT EHERET AR
AT DARER ST B E BT AMRRER B
e

BREBRZERERAT
2022/23 F 1

143



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AR M ERR M

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

14

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

30 €@ T B
SREARETERERIES)

=B R E A ()
RITHEER ()
BRE - (%)

1) (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)
The following table shows the movement in lifetime ECL that has
been recognised for trade receivables under the simplified approach.

M

(%)

HRREE ()
T%‘%EUfE*EFﬁ%{KE}X?ﬁ%%F&‘H&%
BR 2 EMEEREAE

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(credit- (not credit-
impaired) impaired) Total
T HATEHR ZHATEER
ZEEE ZEEBE
(Z8RME) (BEERE) #Et
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FAET FAET
At 1 April 2021 R-ZE-_—FMA—H - 2,475 2,475
Changes due to financial instruments B’\\f??\: FYA—H
recognised as at 1 April 2021: wlﬁpﬂil/ﬂ\
Fﬁéiﬁ’]
— Impairment losses reversed — ﬁé@)}ﬁi@%% - (2,120) (2,120)
— Impairment losses recognised — ERBIEEE - 2,681 2,681
New financial assets originated FERESREE - 201 201
At 31 March 2022 R-ZE-_—F=F=+—H - 3,237 3,237
Changes due to financial instruments M —-—Z = —4PHH—H
recognised as at 1 April 2022: EERESHIEA
FTEAE R EE)
— Impairment losses reversed — BERERRE - (3,064) (3,064)
— Transfer to credit-impaired — EEEEERE 164 (164) -
— Impairment losses recognised — HERREERE 1,234 1,692 2,926
— Write-offs — 5 (1,398) - (1,398)
New financial assets originated FERESREE - 4,445 4,445
At 31 March 2023 R-E-_=%=A=+—H - 6,146 6,146

As at 31 March 2023, lifetime ECL of HK$6,146,000 (2022:
HK$3,237,000) for trade receivables with an aggregate gross
carrying amount of HK$54,145,000 (2022: HK$42,833,000) has
been recognised.

During the year ended 31 March 2023, the Group provided
HK$4,307,000 (2022: HK$762,000) impairment allowance, net of
reversal of HK$3,064,000 (2022: HK$2,120,000) for trade
receivables.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23

W—ZE-_=F=ZfA=+—8" EEM@BE
& 46,146,000/ T (- T - —
3,237,000/ 7C) E’Jf’i%rﬁuémlﬁﬁﬁm £
HFEHZ B E518 54,145,000 8 L (=&
~ T4 : 42,833,00087T) °

HE_Z-_=F=-A=+—HBILFE "
REERE S5 EWBFRAERE

4,307,000/ 7L (=& = =4 : 762,000
#IT) 0 KR [E 3,064,000/8 7T (=
T~ 4 :2,120,000/87T) °



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Bank balances (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(2)  For the purpose of internal credit risk management, the Group uses
past due information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

0 £€RITH %

CREREBEEERBEE)
=B R E A ()
RITHEER ()

PaE : ()

@ HABEERREEME  AEEEA
BHEREEERRBVISHEALR
BEAEEM -

Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
Bik:3 08 )
BE  EEEEES st
2023 —EC-=HE HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000
THET THET FERT
Other receivables and deposits Hip e soE Mg e - 706 706
Not past
due/no fixed
repayment
Past due terms Total
Riz 3<08: )
wmEl  mETEEES “Et
2022 - F HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHAT
Other receivables and deposits H e aE Mg e - 599 599
MEEE R

Liquidity risk

Ultimate responsibility for liquidity risk management rests with the
directors of the Company, which has built an appropriate liquidity
risk management framework for the management’s short, medium
and long-term funding and liquidity management requirements. The
Group manages liquidity risk by maintaining adequate reserves and
borrowing facilities, by continuously monitoring forecast and actual
cash flows and matching the maturity profiles of financial assets
and liabilities.

ARREZRARPDECRBRERAER
REME REECRYAGENRDETR
REBERAERE  PRERHABESUNU
ERnBEcERTL  AEERBHER
ARFERBRREERE  HEEZEBEAR
ERREREANREHEREERARE
WEHAS - LERRBE SRR

BREBRZERERAT
2022/23 F 1

145



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

30 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 30 €T R
Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued) SREREEREERERE (&)
Liquidity risk (Continued) B E AR (&)
The following tables detail the Group’s remaining contractual T EREAEBSHEES TELHD
maturity for its financial liabilities. The tables have been drawn up HBEFHE ZEXREBBIEAREE A
based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based FEYMHSZEAHSRBEMNARITIRE
on the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. SrnaEmmER . AEms  BIREJE
Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on demand clause are BERFINBRTERFAZERE M+
included in the earliest time band regardless of the probability of the RIBITIEBETTERENAOE R HMIE
banks choosing to exercise their rights. The maturity dates for other ESRABEINHANREREENRA
non-derivative financial liabilities are based on the agreed HET ZEXRBRBEENERALRS
repayment dates. The tables include both interest and principal B e
cash flows.
Liquidity and interest risk tables wRBE® R ERREK
On
Weighted  demand or Total
average less than 3 months 1-5 undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years  cash flows amounts
e RERER 3f@A RTH
FigF= AR 18 1256 BReRBAE BREE
% HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT FHT FHT FHAT
At 31 March 2023 RZZZ=F=R=1+—8
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERZIE - 5,547 - - 5,547 5,547
Bank and other borrowings BITREMEE 4.13 28,210 - - 28,210 28,210
33,757 - - 33,757 33,757
Lease liabilties HEARE 4175 733 2,198 9,822 12,753 11,602
34,490 2,198 9,822 46,510 45,449
On
Weighted demand or Total
average less than 3 months 1-5  undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 3 months to 1 year years cash flows amounts
E REREH 3fEA RITH
THgHE 3fAAMK Z1F 155 RenEsE FEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT T FHT FHT FHT
At 31 March 2022 RZBZ=ZF=f=+—H
Trade and other payables B 5 REMERZIE - 4,261 - - 4,261 4,261
Other borrowings Hibfg & 1.00 20,000 - - 20,000 20,000
24,261 - - 24,261 24,261
Lease liabilties HEAE 4.125 622 1,865 11,939 14,426 12,916
24,883 1,865 11,939 38,687 37,177
1 4 Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

Liquidity and interest risk tables (Continued)

Bank and other borrowings with a repayment on demand clause
are included in the “on demand or less than 3 months” time band
in the above maturity analysis. As at 31 March 2023, the aggregate
undiscounted principal amounts of these bank and other
borrowings amounted to HK$28,210,000 (2022: HK$20,000,000).
Taking into account the Group’s financial position, the directors of
the Company do not believe that it is probable that the financial
institution will exercise their discretionary rights to demand
immediate repayment. The directors of the Company believe that
such bank and other borrowings will be repaid after the end of
reporting period in accordance with the scheduled repayment
dates set out in the loan agreements. As a result, the aggregate
principal and interest cash outflows will amount to HK$28,487,000
as at 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$20,031,000).

0 £€RTH»

cRRAREEEEREE (&)
B E AR (&)

nEE S EFBRMRE (E)

Wi ZREEKRROBRITREMEES
A LMEIER B ST [ EkBE ok 3 &
ARIRERN RZZE-_=F=A=1+—
H ZERTEEMEBEENRTALRS
485 528,210,000 (& = =
20,000,000/ 7T) ° & EE| AR S E I
AR RABEERAESREBETARA
BEITHERIERERABER - AR AE
EHEZSRTAEMEEBEBRER
WS ER BN ME S REE
BoEHN R—_E-_=F=A=+—8H
A EkMNBERSTEAER A
28,487,000 w( = & = = F:
20,031,000 7T) °

Maturity Analysis — Bank and other borrowings subject to a repayment
on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HAELN - REERHERHTEERRERINRTRANEE

Total
0-3 7-12 1-2 undiscounted Carrying
months months months years cash flows amount
i)
0Z3fA 4Z6f8F  TZ12f8R 1226 BERELE REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL FEL
31 March 2023 “F-=f=f=1-H 27,250 1,237 - - 28,487 28,210
31 March 2022 “TC-fF=fA=1—H 20,031 - - 20,031 20,000
BREBEZERARAAE
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AR B ERER I aE

N

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts
of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded at amortised cost
in the consolidated financial statements approximate their fair
values. Such fair values have been determined in accordance with
generally accepted pricing models based on a discounted cash
flow analysis.

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured at
fair value on a recurring basis

The financial asset at FVTPL is measured at fair value at the end of
each reporting period.

The following table gives information about how the fair value of the
financial asset is determined.

0 £€RITH %

AT
ARAEFRRRBERANFAZEY
BRExNeREERSRARKEER
HRAFERE - ZEFRFERBLER
M EERNRITRRASRESNETE -

AEFILIRE MR E I N FEFERY
EHMEENFE
BERBERRAFEARZEREENS
AR &KL A FEFE

TRE#EBNIEESREEATE
BB R -

Fair value as at

DNFEE
31 March 31 March
Financial asset ERMEE 2023 2022
R-B-=F RIZT-_C Valuation
=ZHA=+—H =A=+—H  Farvalue technique
HK$’000 HK$'000  hierarchy and key input
NEE fRE R &
FERT FHT ERHIE FEB2H
Financial asset at FVTPL BRBETEAFEARZ 23,349 25,034  Level1 Quoted bid prices
— Equity securities listed on & BEE— RERZAT LT E—R in an active market.
the Stock Exchange B AR 7 75 FAVE BB TR 35 P i
RIEE -

There were no transfers between Level 1, 2 and 3 during the year.

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR e M SRR A

31 RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES 31 EEAIEE
() Related party transactions () BEBIXS
The Group had no significant transactions and balances with REBEEZZT_—FRk_T__F=
related party during the years ended 31 March 2023 and A=1+—BI1EFE - NEBEHEERE
2022. FUEEME RS KA -

iy EEEEASRMN
EENHEMETEERAEBRAFE

(i) Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors and other members of key

management during the year is as follows: ZFBIT
2023 2022
—E_-= —E-F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FHET
Fee 433! 600 558
Salaries and allowances e NoERL 7,240 7,413
Performance related incentive payments 43k 524 2,378 1,357

Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFIFTEIME R

schemes 144 140
10,362 9,468

32 RETIREMENT BENEFIT PLAN 32 ERIREFEE
The Group participates in a defined contribution scheme which is REE B 2 BAR SR A M AT 2 5T ENE5I
registered under the MPF Scheme established under the B RIE S ETE &Hﬂﬁ’]mﬁgfﬁ K ET

Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme Ordinance. The assets of the g ZETEMEENASEEE)HE

schemes are held separately from those of the Group, in funds
under the control of trustees. For members of the MPF Scheme,
the Group contributes at the lower of HK$1,500 per month or 5%
of relevant payroll costs each month to the MPF Scheme, in which
the contribution is matched by the employee. There is no forfeited
contributions utilised by the Group during the year.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiary in the PRC are members
of a state-managed retirement benefit plan operated by the
government of the PRC. The subsidiary is required to contribute a
specified percentage of payroll costs to the retirement benefit
scheme to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group with
respect to the retirement benefit plan is to make the specified
contributions.

The total expenses recognised in profit or loss of HK$ 1,628,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2023 (2022: HK$1,579,000) represent
contributions paid and payable to these plans by the Group at rates
specified in the rules of the plans.

B AEKAEENESHA #ES
FHEIKETE - AEEE A1 1,500/87T
A EF A AR 5% (AREERE)
megE et EIHR - MEBIFAELS
BHR - AEERAFEIEISH AR
I BERR

AEBWHENEARIERY AT EK
ﬁ%?ﬂ%ﬁ’]*MEEZEPHE?‘NJ%%UE’U&
8 o M B AR AR AN E B
ttﬁﬁﬁwmﬂ BT AEBEH
@A - AN g% R KR M AT AR
BEER/ELEEHRN -

HE-_TE-_=F=F=+—HILFER
BRTER 4R X 1,628,000/ T (=&
— = 1,579,000 70) 5 A £ B st
EHRAIFTAREM L REN REMN TZE
ETBIAHERR o

awamEERRAT {4Q



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
AR B ERER I aE

33 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM 33 METBELE2EEYER

FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities arising TRARASERERDELCABE
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash HIF RREeRIIRSEH AR
changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for BEAZBEDARERENH KRS
which cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the MERAEEBNGERERERSES
Group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows used BREESMACAeRECABE -

in financing activities.

Bank

Interest  and other Lease

payable borrowings liabilities Total
RITR

EARE HtiEE HE&E Bt

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TATT TATT TAT THETT

At 1 April 2021 R-E-—FPA—H 169 20,000 14,724 34,893
Financing cash flows AR TE (307) - (2,374) (2,681)
Interest expense FMBERX 307 - 566 873
At 31 March 2022 R-E_-_—
=—A=+—H 169 20,000 12,916 33,085
New lease entered RV FHE
Increase in lease liabilities from  £T 37 Z 70 & FrEE 4 1
entering into new leases HE&BEEM
during the period - - 844 844
Financing cash flows MERESRE (710) 8,210 (2,562) 4,938
Interest expense FBEFX 541 - 494 1,035
At 31 March 2023 i ——
=A=+—H - 28,210 11,692 39,902
150 Siaheromzozm
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AR e BRI R

34 PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Group’s subsidiaries at the end of the reporting

34 MEARFR
K S Y R A $R BR A S S BL

period are set out below. AR o
Place and of Issued and fully paid
incorporation/  Place of share capital/ Attributable equity
Name of subsidiary establishment  operations registered capital interest to the Group Principal activities
BilEAye BRTRARKRE/ -1
WEARERE B EENY EMER it RE TEER
2023 2022
—E-CE —E--F
% %
Directly held BEERE
Hang Wing BVI Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
B EERAES 0 ERR1ET REER
Top Standard Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 100 100 Inactive
HRERART £ ) LRR1ET TEEK
Indirectly held BERE
Top Mark Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Trading of DTH rockdrilling tools,
HK$1,000,000 rockdriling equipment and piling
and driling machineries
BRI B B Tk 1,000,000 87T EEENRETE BER
SARATHEH B4
MAXA RockDrills Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares HK$100 100 100 Trading of rockdriling equipment
Eh ) ERR 1008 TT EERAHE
Norry Tech The PRC The PRC Registered capital 51 51 Manufacturing of DTH rockdriling
HK$23,000,000 tools
Bz i # & 423,000,000 7T HERARETA
Tristate International Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 51 51 Trading of rockdriling equipment
HK$10,000 and piling and driling machineries
BDER e 0 iR 10,0005 7T EEREHE  URITHERER
Top Glory Construction Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary shares 100 100 Trading of rockdriling and piling
Equipment Limited HK$10,000 and driling equipment and
machineries
ERBEREERAR £ ) LR 10,0008 7 EERE  RNEAEREN
Tristate (HK) Holding Hong Kong Hong Kong Ordinary share HK$1 100 100 Investment holding
Company Limited
£ BE ERR1ET REER

Norry Tech is a wholly foreign owned enterprise.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end
of the year and during the year.

HAZRIINEBELE -

RERRRAFEHRD L@ BAF
BB ES -
BEEBERERAT
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

AL r— oh
B 75 4 22
For the year 31 March
BZ=-A=+t-HLEE
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=E  —Z2--E —E--&5  —ZE-TE —E-hE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000
TRT FAT FAET FAET FAL
Revenue Iz 157,048 141,748 106,693 178,559 163,441
(Loss) profit before tax Bruial (B51E) mH (6,516) (1,115) (7,434) 26,593 25,798
Tax credit (charge) MBEEE () 2,940 (360) 897 (5,711) (6,033)
(Loss) profit for the year FR(EE)GEF (3,576) (1,475) (6,537) 20,882 19,765
Total comprehensive (expense)  EAZEA (B ) Wz
income for the year (8,436) 319 (1,732) 18,025 17,017
Total comprehensive (expense) AT ATEEEZE
income attributable to: (B )Mz
Owners of the Company RATEAA (6,617) 461 (1,106) 12,036 12,140
Non-controling interests FEESI = (1,819) (142) (626) 5,989 4,877
(Loss) earnings per share, basic  FIER (E518) &7
(HK cents) (741 (0.92) 0.12) (1.16) 3.60 3.65
As at 31 March
R=A=+—-H
2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
—E-=f ZE--f - CZTZTF ZENE
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TRT FAET FAET FAET FAL
Total non-current assets FERBEELE 17,966 25,502 28,243 29,944 16,462
Total current assets mEEEAE 213,139 207,294 210,850 208,258 202,881
TOTAL ASSETS BEE 231,105 232,796 239,093 238,202 219,343
Total current liabilities TEAEeE 43,941 35,450 40,156 35,760 49,650
Total non-current liabilities FEnBEEASR 9,295 11,041 12,951 14,724 -
TOTAL LIABILITIES waf 53,236 46,491 53,107 50,484 49,650
NET ASSETS EEFE 177,869 186,305 185,986 187,718 169,693
Equity g
Equity attributable to the owners  RA G HH A
of the Company Eih R 142,713 149,330 148,869 149,975 137,939
Non-controling interests FEEHI S 35,156 36,975 37,117 37,743 31,754
TOTAL EQUITY s 177,869 186,305 185,986 187,718 169,693
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DEFINITIONS

“Articles” or “Articles of
Association”

“associate(s)”
“Board” or

“Board of Directors”

“Business Day” or
“business day”

“BVI”

“Code”

“Colour Shine”

“Companies
Ordinance”

” n

“Company”,
Company”,
“we” or “Us”

“connected person”
“Controlling

Shareholder(s)”

“Director(s)”

“ESG”

the articles of association of the Company, as
amended from time to time

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Listing Rules

the board of Directors

a day on which banks in Hong Kong are
generally open for normal banking business to
the public and which is not a Saturday, Sunday
or public holiday in Hong Kong

the British Virgin Islands

Corporate Governance Code as set out in
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, as amended
from time to time

Colour Shine Investments Limited ¥ 181% & &
[R 2 7], a company incorporated in the BVI with
limited liabilities, which is wholly-owned by Mr.
He Xiaoming, and became the Controlling
Shareholders on 5 February 2018

the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), as amended or
supplemented from time to time

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited & 2% £= & 42
i & BB A 8], a company incorporated in the
Cayman Islands with limited liability on 17
March 2016

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules and, unless the context otherwise
requires, means Mr. He Xiaoming and Colour
Shine from 5 February 2018

the director(s) of the Company

Environmental, Social and Governance
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DEFINITIONS

“Euro”

“Executive Director(s)’

” o«

“Group”, “our Group”,
“we” or “Us”

“Hang Wing”

“HK$” or “Hong Kong
dollars” or “HK
dollars” or “cents”

“Hong Kong” or “HK”

“Independent
Non-executive

Director(s)”

“independent
third party(ies)”

“Legislative Council”

“Listing Date”

15

the lawful currency of the European Union
the executive Director(s)

the Company and its subsidiaries or, where the
context otherwise requires, in respect of the
period prior to our Company becoming the
holding company of its present subsidiaries, the
present subsidiaries of our Company, some or
any of them and the businesses carried on by
such subsidiaries or (as the case may be) their
predecessors

Hang Wing Holdings Limited #8282 & B IR A
A, a BVI business company incorporated in
the BVI with limited liability on 16 March 2016
and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company

Hong Kong dollars and cents respectively, the
lawful currency of Hong Kong

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
of the PRC

the independent non-executive Director(s)

person(s) or company(ies) and their respective
ultimate beneficial owner(s), who/which, to the
best of our Directors’ knowledge, information
and belief, having made all reasonable
enquiries, is/are not connected with our
Company or our connected persons as defined
under the Listing Rules

the Legislative Council of Hong Kong

the date, being, 11 January 2017, on which the
shares of the Company are listed on the Stock
Exchange and from which dealings in the
shares are permitted to commence on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
ANNUAL REPORT 2022/23
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DEFINITIONS

“Listing Rules”

“Macau”

“Maxa RockDrills”

“MPE”

“Norry Tech”

“PRC”

“Prospectus”

“Reporting Period”

“RMB” or “Renminbi”

“SFO”

“Share(s)”

“Shareholder(s)”

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (as
amended, supplemented or otherwise modified
from time to time)

the Macau Special Administrative Region of the
PRC

MAXA RockDrills Limited, a company
incorporated in Hong Kong with limited liability
on 15 September 2000 and is an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

mandatory provident fund

81 T IEE R A F)E TR B AR 2 7 (Norry
Tech Engineering Equipment Limited), a
company established in the PRC with limited
liability on 16 October 2007, owned as to 51%
by Tristate Hong Kong, and is an indirect non
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

the People’s Republic of China, excluding for
the purpose of this annual report only, Hong
Kong, Macau and Taiwan region

the prospectus of the Company dated 30
December 2016 in relation to the initial public
offering and the listing of our Shares on the
Stock Exchange

2022/20283 (from 1 April 2022 to 31 March
2023)

the lawful currency of the PRC

the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), as amended
or supplemented from time to time

the ordinary share(s) of the Company

the shareholder(s) of the Company
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DEFINITIONS

“Stock Exchange”

“subsidiary” or
“subsidiaries”

“substantial
shareholder”

“Top Glory”

“Top Mark”

“Tristate Hong Kong”

“Tristate International”

“U.S.” or
“United States”

“US$", nUSDu Or
“U.S. dollars”
“Year”

“oL”

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited

has the meaning ascribed thereto under the
Companies Ordinance

has the meaning ascribed thereto in the Listing
Rules

Top Glory Construction Equipment Limited 7E
REEREER AT, formerly known as Top
Mark Construction Equipment Limited E & &
SR B R A T, a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 20 March
2015 and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary
of the Company

Top Mark Mechanical Equipment Limited = &
W R AR A F], a company incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 28 July 1997
and an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company

Tristate (HK) Holding Company Limited, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability on 13 April 2016, and an indirect
wholly-owned subsidiary of our Company

Tristate International Industrial Limited Ef g5
BEZEAR A, acompany incorporated in
Hong Kong with limited liability on 28 July 2008,
and held as to 51% by Hang Wing, and an
indirect non-wholly owned subsidiary of our
Company

the United States of America, its territories, its
possessions and all areas subject to its

jurisdiction

United States dollars, the lawful currency for
the time being of the United States

Year ended 31 March 2023

per cent

In the event of any inconsistency, the English text of this annual report
shall prevail over the Chinese text.

15

Yuk Wing Group Holdings Limited
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